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The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the 
statements made, reports contained or opinions expressed in this Circular.
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CIRCULAR TO SHAREHOLDERS

in relation to the
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other than those already held directly or indirectly by the Offeror (as defi ned herein) as at the date of the Offer 

(as defi ned herein)

Independent Financial Adviser to the Independent Directors of the Company

RHT CAPITAL PTE. LTD.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No.: 201109968H)

SHAREHOLDERS SHOULD NOTE THAT THE OFFER DOCUMENT (AS DEFINED HEREIN) STATES THAT 
ACCEPTANCES SHOULD BE RECEIVED BY THE CLOSE OF THE OFFER AT 5.30 P.M. (SINGAPORE TIME) ON 
22 JUNE 2023, OR SUCH LATER DATE(S) AS MAY BE ANNOUNCED FROM TIME TO TIME BY OR ON BEHALF 
OF THE OFFEROR. ACCORDINGLY, SHAREHOLDERS WHO WISH TO ACCEPT THE OFFER MUST DO SO BY 
SUCH TIME AND DATE.

THE OFFEROR DOES NOT INTEND TO REVISE THE FINAL OFFER PRICE, SAVE THAT THE OFFEROR 
RESERVES THE RIGHT TO DO SO IN A COMPETITIVE SITUATION.
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DEFINITIONS

In this Circular, the following defi nitions apply throughout unless the context otherwise requires or unless 
otherwise stated:

“ACRA” : The Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority of Singapore

“Appraised Assets” : Shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 9.1 of Appendix B 
to this Circular

“Business Day” : A day (other than Saturday, Sunday or a gazetted public holiday) 
on which commercial banks are open for business in Singapore

“CDP” : The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (Company Registration 
No.: 198003912M), a company incorporated in the Republic of 
Singapore

“Circular” : This circular to Shareholders dated 8 June 2023 from the 
Company containing, amongst other things, the Recommendation 
from the Independent Directors to Shareholders and the advice of 
the IFA to the Independent Directors 

“Closing Date” : 22 June 2023, or such later date(s) as may be announced from 
time to time by or on behalf of the Offeror, being the last day for 
the lodgement of acceptances of the Offer 

“Code” : The Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers

“Companies Act” : The Companies Act 1967 of Singapore

“Company” : Penguin International Limited (Company Registration No.: 
197600165Z), a company incorporated in the Republic of 
Singapore and listed on the Main Board of the SGX-ST

“Company Securities” : (i) The Shares; (ii) securities which carry voting rights in the 
Company; and (iii) convertible securities, warrants, options 
(including any options granted under any employee share scheme 
of the Company) or derivatives in respect of the Shares or 
securities which carry voting rights in the Company

“Constitution” : The constitution of the Company

“CPF” : The Central Provident Fund

“CPFIS” : CPF Investment Scheme

“CPFIS Investors” : Investors who purchase Shares using their CPF contributions 
pursuant to the CPFIS

“Directors” : The directors of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date

“Emet Grace” : Emet Grace Ltd.

“FAA” : Form of Acceptance and Authorisation for Offer Shares which 
forms part of the Offer Document and which is issued to 
Shareholders whose Shares are deposited with CDP

“FAT” : Form of Acceptance and Transfer for Offer Shares which forms 
part of the Offer Document and which is issued to Shareholders 
whose Shares are not deposited with CDP
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“ Final Offer Price” : S$0.830 in cash for each Offer Share 

“Fleet ” : Shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 9.1(a) of Appendix 
B to this Circular

“FY” : In respect of the Company, fi nancial year ended or ending (as the 
case may be) on 31 December of a particular year as stated

“FY2022 Dividend” : The fi rst and fi nal tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of S$0.0225 per 
Share for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2022.

“FY2022 Results” : The audited consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group for 
FY2022

“Group” : The Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

“IFA” : RHT Capital Pte. Ltd. (Company Registration No.: 201109968H), 
a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and the 
independent fi nancial adviser to the Independent Directors in 
respect of the Offer

“IFA Letter” : Letter dated  8 June 2023 from the IFA to the Independent 
Directors containing, amongst other things, the advice of the IFA 
to the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer, as set out in 
Appendix A to this Circular 

“Independent Directors” : The Directors who are considered independent for the purposes of 
making the Recommendation, namely: 

(i) Ms. Joanna Tung May Fong;

(ii) Mr. Winston Kwek Choon Lin

(iii) Mr. Henry Tan Song Kok; and

(iv) Mr. Leow Ban Tat

“Independent Valuers” : The following:

(i) ALC Consulting Services Pte. Ltd.; 

(ii) PREMAS Valuers & Property Consultants Pte. Ltd.; and

(iii)  Kantor Jasa Penilai Publik Muttaqin Bambang Purwanto 
Rozak Uswatun dan Rekan

“Indonesia Apartment ” : Shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 9.1(e) of Appendix 
B to this Circular

“Indonesia Shipyards” : Shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 9.1(c) of Appendix 
B to this Circular

“Latest Practicable Date” :  29 May 2023, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing 
of this Circular 

“Listing Manual” : The listing manual of the Mainboard of the SGX-ST in force as at 
the Latest Practicable Date
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“Machinery and Equipment” : The machinery and equipment appraised by the Independent 
Valuers as set out in the  Summary Valuation Reports in Appendix 
E to this Circular 

“Market Day” : A day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading of securities 

“Offer” : The voluntary unconditional cash offer, for and on behalf of the 
Offeror, to acquire the Offer Shares, on the terms and subject to 
the conditions set out in the Offer Document and the Relevant 
Acceptance Forms

“Offer Announcement” : The announcement in connection with the Offer released by WCM, 
for and on behalf of the Offeror, on the Offer Announcement Date

“Offer Announcement Date” : 4 May 2023, being the date of the Offer Announcement

“Offer Document” : The offer document dated 25 May 2023 issued by WCM, for and 
on behalf of the Offeror, in respect of the Offer 

“Offer Shares” : Shares, other than those Shares held, directly or indirectly, by the 
Offeror as at the date of the Offer 

“Offeror” : Aleph Tav Ltd (Cayman Islands Company Registration 
No.: MC-398348), a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands

“Offeror Securities” : (i) The Offeror Shares; (ii) securities which carry voting rights in 
the Offeror; and (iii) convertible securities, warrants, options and 
derivatives in respect of the Offeror Shares or securities which 
carry voting rights in the Offeror

“Offeror Shares” : Issued and paid-up ordinary shares in the capital of the Offeror

“Overseas Shareholders” : Shareholders with neither a mailing address nor a corporate action 
mailing address in Singapore, as shown on the Register or, as the 
case may be, in the records of CDP

“Recommendation” : The recommendation in respect of the Offer as required under the 
Code

“Register” : The register of Shareholders maintained by the Share Registrar

“Relevant Acceptance Forms” : The FAA and/or the FAT

“Seloko Land” : Shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 9.1(d) of Appendix 
B to this Circular

“SFA” : The Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore

“SGXNET” :  A system network used by listed companies to send information 
and announcements to the SGX-ST or any other system networks 
prescribed by the SGX-ST

“SGX RegCo” : Singapore Exchange Regulation Pte. Ltd. (Company Registration 
No.: 201709600D), a company incorporated in the Republic of 
Singapore
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“SGX-ST” : Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (Company 
Registration No.: 197300970D), a company incorporated in the 
Republic of Singapore

“Share Registrar” : Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. (Company 
Registration No.: 196800531W), a company incorporated in the 
Republic of Singapore and the share registrar of the Company 
located at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, 
Singapore 098632 

“Shareholders” : The holders of Shares, including persons whose Shares are 
deposited with CDP or who have purchased Shares on the 
SGX-ST 
 

“Shares” : Issued and paid-up ordinary shares in the share capital of the 
Company

“SIC” : The Securities Industry Council of Singapore

“SRS” : The Supplementary Retirement Scheme

“SRS Investors” : Investors who have purchased Shares using their SRS 
contributions pursuant to the SRS

“ Summary Valuation Reports” : The  summaries of the Valuation Reports, as set out in Appendix E 
to this Circular

“S$” : Singapore dollars, being the lawful currency of Singapore

“Tuas Property” : Shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 9.1(b) of Appendix 
B to this Circular

“Valuation Reports” : The valuation reports issued by the Independent Valuers, in 
relation to the independent valuations commissioned by the 
Company of the Appraised Assets

“WCM” : W Capital Markets Pte. Ltd. (Company Registration No.: 
201813207E), a company incorporated in the Republic of 
Singapore

“75% Acceptance Condition” : Shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 8.2(a) of this 
Circular

“%” or “per cent.” : Percentage or per centum

Acting in Concert and Associates. Unless otherwise defi ned, the expressions “acting in concert” and 
the term “associates” shall have the same meanings as ascribed to them respectively in the Code.

Announcements and Notices. References to the making of an announcement or the giving of notice 
by the Company shall include the release of an announcement by the Company or its agents, for and on 
behalf of the Company, to the press or the delivery of or transmission by telephone, facsimile, SGXNET 
or otherwise of an announcement to the SGX-ST. An announcement made otherwise than to the SGX-ST 
shall be notifi ed to the SGX-ST simultaneously.

Depository Related Terms. The terms “Depositor”, “Depository Agent” and “Depository Register” 
shall have the meanings ascribed to them respectively in Section 81SF of the SFA.
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Expressions. Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa and 
words indicating a specifi c gender shall, where applicable, include the other genders (male, female or 
neuter). References to persons shall, where applicable, include corporations.

Headings. The headings in this Circular are inserted for convenience only and shall be ignored in 
construing this Circular. 

Rounding. Any discrepancies in fi gures included in this Circular between the listed amounts and their 
totals are due to rounding. Accordingly, fi gures may have been adjusted to ensure that totals or sub-totals 
shown, as the case may be, refl ect an arithmetic aggregation of the fi gures that precede them.

Shareholders. References to “you”, “your” and “yours” in this Circular are, as the context so determines, 
to Shareholders (including persons whose Shares are deposited with CDP or who have purchased the 
Shares on the SGX-ST). 

Statutes. Any reference in this Circular to any enactment or statutory provision is a reference to that 
enactment or statutory provision for the time being amended, modifi ed, supplemented or re-enacted. Any 
word defi ned in the Companies Act, the Code, the Listing Manual, the SFA, or any such statutory or 
regulatory modifi cation thereof and not otherwise defi ned in this Circular shall, where applicable, have 
the meaning assigned to it under the Companies Act, the Code, the Listing Manual, the SFA or that 
modifi cation thereof, as the case may be, unless the context otherwise requires.

Subsidiary, wholly owned subsidiary and related corporation. References to “subsidiary”, “wholly 
owned subsidiary” and “related corporation” shall have the meanings ascribed to them respectively in 
Sections 5, 5B and 6 of the Companies Act.

Time and date. Any reference to a time of day and date in this Circular shall be a reference to Singapore 
time and date, unless otherwise stated.

Total Number of Shares and Percentage of Shares. In this Circular, the total number of Shares as at 
the Latest Practicable Date is 220,169,774. Unless otherwise specifi ed, all references to a percentage 
shareholding in the capital of the Company in this Circular are based on 220,169,774 Shares as at the 
Latest Practicable Date. 

Reproduced Statements. Statements which are reproduced in their entirety or as excerpts from 
the Offer Document, the IFA Letter, the  Summary Valuation Reports, the FY2022 Results and 
the Constitution are set out in this Circular within quotes and in italics, and all capitalised terms and 
expressions used within these reproduced statements and not defi ned herein shall have the same 
meanings ascribed to them in the Offer Document, the IFA Letter, the  Summary Valuation Reports, the 
FY2022 Results and the Constitution respectively. 
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Circular are or may be forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements include but are not limited to those using words such as 
“aim”, “seek”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “believe”, “intend”, “project”, “plan”, “strategy”, “forecast” 
and similar expressions or future or conditional verbs such as “will”, “if”, “would”, “should”, “could”, “may” 
and “might”. These statements refl ect the Company’s current expectations, beliefs, hopes, intentions 
or strategies regarding the future and assumptions in light of information available as at the Latest 
Practicable Date. Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance or events 
and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, actual results may differ materially 
from those described in such forward-looking statements. Shareholders should not place undue reliance 
on such forward-looking statements, and the Company assumes no obligation to update publicly or revise 
any forward-looking statement. 

Given the risks and uncertainties that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the 
Company and/or Group to be materially different than expected, expressed or implied by the forward-
looking statements in this Circular, Shareholders are advised not to place undue reliance on those 
statements. Further, the Company disclaims any responsibility to update any of those forward-looking 
statements or publicly announce any revisions to those forward-looking statements to refl ect future 
developments, events or circumstances for any reason, even if new information becomes available or 
other events occur in the future, subject to compliance with all applicable laws and/or any regulatory or 
supervisory body or agency.
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INDICATIVE TIMETABLE

Date of despatch of Offer Document : 25 May 2023 (Thursday)

Date of despatch of this Circular : 8 June 2023 (Thursday)

Closing Date and Time : 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 22 June 2023, or such 
 later date(s) as may be announced from time to time 
by or on behalf of the Offeror, being the last day for 
the lodgement of acceptances for the Offer.

Date of settlement of consideration for valid 
acceptances of the Offer 

: In respect of valid acceptances, complete in all 
respects and in accordance with the instructions 
given in the Offer Document and the Relevant 
Acceptance Forms (as the case may be), within 
seven (7) Business Days after the receipt of such 
acceptances. 

Please refer to paragraph 1 of Appendix IV to the 
Offer Document, for further information. 
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

(Company Registration Number: 197600165Z)

Directors  Registered Offi ce

 Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir (Executive Chairman) 21 Tuas Road
Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong (Managing Director) Singapore 638489
Ms. Joanna Tung May Fong (Finance and Administration Director)
Mr. Winston Kwek Choon Lin (Lead Independent and Non-executive Director)
Mr. Henry Tan Song Kok (Independent and Non-executive Director)
Mr. Leow Ban Tat (Independent and Non-executive Director)
Mr. Keith Tan Keng Soon (Non-independent and Non-executive Director)

8 June 2023

To:  The Shareholders of the Company

Dear Sir / Madam

VOLUNTARY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER BY W CAPITAL MARKETS PTE. LTD. FOR AND ON 
BEHALF OF ALEPH TAV LTD FOR THE OFFER SHARES

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Offer Announcement. On 4 May 2023, WCM announced, for and on behalf of the Offeror, that the 
Offeror intends to make a voluntary unconditional cash offer to acquire the Offer Shares at a price 
of S$0.820 for each Offer Share. 

 As stated in the Offer Announcement, the offer price then of S$0.820 payable to a Shareholder 
who validly accepts the Offer would be reduced by the amount of the FY2022 Dividend (which is 
S$0.0225 per Share) to S$0.7975 per Offer Share. 

 A copy of the Offer Announcement is available for download from SGXNET at www.sgx.com. The 
Offer Announcement was also advertised in The Straits Times on 8 May 2023.

1.2 Revised Offer Announcement. On 15 May 2023, WCM announced, for and on behalf of the 
Offeror, inter alia, the revision of the offer price to S$0.830 for each Offer Share:

 As stated in the Revised Offer Announcement, the Final Offer Price of S$0.830 represents an 
increase of S$0.0325 or approximately 4.08% over the initial offer price (after adjustment for the 
FY2022 Dividend) of S$0.7975 per Offer Share. The Final Offer Price has been determined on 
the basis that the Offeror will not receive the FY2022 Dividend as the record date for the FY2022 
Dividend has passed. 

 A copy of the Revised Offer Announcement is available for download from SGXNET at 
www.sgx.com. 

1.3 Offer Document. Shareholders should by now have received a copy of the Offer Document and 
Relevant Acceptance Forms issued by WCM, for and on behalf of the Offeror, setting out, inter 
alia, the terms and conditions of the Offer. The principal terms and conditions of the Offer are set 
out in paragraph 2 of the Offer Document. Shareholders are advised to read the terms and 
conditions of the Offer set out in the Offer Document carefully. 

 A copy of the Offer Document is available for download from SGXNET at www.sgx.com.
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1.4 Independent Financial Adviser. The Company has appointed RHT Capital Pte. Ltd. as the 
independent fi nancial adviser to advise the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer.

1.5 Independent Directors. Under the Code, the Independent Directors are required to make a 
Recommendation to Shareholders as to whether Shareholders should accept or reject the Offer.

1.6 Purpose of this Circular. The purpose of this Circular is to provide Shareholders with relevant 
information pertaining to the Offer and to set out the Recommendation of the Independent 
Directors and the advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors with regard to the Offer.

 Shareholders should read the Offer Document, this Circular and the IFA Letter set out in 
Appendix A carefully and consider the advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors and 
the Recommendation of the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer before deciding 
whether to accept or reject the Offer.

 Shareholders are also advised to read the Summary Valuation Reports set out in Appendix 
E to this Circular carefully, in particular, the terms of reference, key assumptions and critical 
factors. 

 If you are in any doubt in respect of this Circular or as to the action you should take, you 
should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, accountant, solicitor, tax adviser or other 
professional adviser immediately. 

2. THE OFFER 

2.1 Offer and Offer Shares. Subject to the terms and conditions set out in the Offer Document, the 
Offer is made by WCM, for and on behalf of the Offeror, for all the Offer Shares on the principal 
terms set out in paragraph 2 of the Offer Document, extracts of which are reproduced in italics 
below.

 Unless otherwise defi ned, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the 
same meanings as those defi ned in the Offer Document.

2.2 Consideration. Paragraph 2.2 of the Offer Document states the following: 

“2.2 Consideration

 As stated in the Price Revision Announcement, the consideration for each Offer Share 
has been revised to the following:

 For each Offer Share: S$0.830 in cash (the “Final Offer Price”).

 The Offeror does not intend to revise the Final Offer Price, save that the Offeror 
reserves the right to do so in a competitive situation.”

 Paragraph 7.1 of the Offer Document also states the following:

“7.1 The Final Offer Price of S$0.830 represents an increase of S$0.0325 or approximately 
4.08% over the initial Offer Price (after adjustment for the FY2022 Dividend) of S$0.7975 
per Offer Share.”
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2.3  No Encumbrances. Paragraph 2.3 of the Offer Document states the following: 

“2. 3 No Encumbrances

 The Offer Shares will be acquired (a) fully paid; (b) free from all liens, equities, mortgages, 
charges, encumbrances, rights of pre-emption and other third party rights and interests 
of any nature whatsoever (collectively, the “Encumbrances”); and (c) together with all 
rights, benefi ts and entitlements attached thereto as at the Offer Announcement Date 
and thereafter attaching thereto (including the right to receive and retain all dividends, 
other distributions and return of capital which may be announced, declared, paid or 
made thereon by the Company on or after the Offer Announcement Date (collectively, the 
“Distributions”).”

2.4 FY2022 Dividend. Paragraph 2.4 of the Offer Document states the following: 

“2.4 FY2022 Dividend

 As stated in the announcement by the Company dated 27 April 2023, the  Shareholders 
approved the payment of the fi rst and fi nal tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of S$0.0225 
per Share for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2022 (the “FY2022 Dividend”)). In 
respect of the FY2022 Dividend, the Record Date has been announced by the Company 
to be 10 May 2023 and the FY2022 Dividend has been paid to Shareholders on 23 May 
2023.

 As the Record Date for the FY2022 Dividend has passed and the FY2022 Dividend has 
been paid to Shareholders, the Final Offer Price has been determined on the basis that 
the Offeror will not receive the FY2022 Dividend. Accordingly:

 (a) a Shareholder who was registered as a Shareholder as at the Record Date and 
who validly accepts the Offer will receive both the FY2022 Dividend and the Final 
Offer Price; and 

 (b) a Shareholder who was not registered as a Shareholder as at the Record Date but 
who validly accepts the Offer will receive only the Final Offer Price.”

2.5 Unconditional Offer. Paragraph 2.5 of the Offer Document states the following: 

“2.5 Unconditional Offer 

 As at the Offer Announcement Date, the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it hold 
Shares representing more than 50% of the total number of issued Shares. Accordingly, 
the Offer will not be conditional upon a minimum number of acceptances being received 
by the Offeror.

 The Offer is not subject to any conditions and is unconditional in all respects.”

2.6 Warranty. Paragraph 2.6 of the Offer Document states the following: 

“2.6 Warranty

 Acceptance of the Offer will be deemed to constitute an unconditional and irrevocable 
warranty by the accepting Shareholder that each Offer Share tendered in acceptance of 
the Offer is sold by the accepting Shareholder, as or on behalf of the benefi cial owner(s) 
thereof, (a) fully paid; (b) free from Encumbrances; and (c) together with all rights, benefi ts 
and entitlements attached thereto as at the Offer Announcement Date and thereafter 
attaching thereto (including the right to receive and retain all Distributions).”
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2.7 Duration of the Offer. Paragraph 2.7 of the Offer Document states the following: 

“2.7 Duration of the Offer

 (a) Closing Date

  Except insofar as the Offer may be withdrawn with the consent of the SIC and every 
person released from any obligation incurred thereunder, the Offer will remain open 
for acceptances by Shareholders for a period of at least 28 days from the date on 
which this Offer Document is posted.

  Accordingly, the Offer will close at 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 22 June 2023 
or such later date(s) as may be announced from time to time by or on behalf 
of the Offeror. 

 (b) Offer to Remain Open for 14 Days thereafter

  Pursuant to Rule 22.6 of the Code, as the Offeror has not stated in this Offer 
Document that the Offer will not be extended beyond the fi rst closing date, the 
Offer will remain open for acceptance for a period of not less than 14 days after 
the date on which the Offer would otherwise have closed, in order to give those 
Shareholders who have not accepted the Offer the opportunity to do so.

 (c) Revision

  Pursuant to Rule 20.1 of the Code, the Offer, if revised, will remain open for 
acceptance for a period of at least 14 days from the date of despatch of the written 
notifi cation of the revision to Shareholders. In any case, where the terms of the 
Offer are revised, the benefi t of the Offer (as so revised) will be made available to 
each of the Shareholders, including those who had previously accepted the Offer.

 (d) Subsequent Closing Date

  Pursuant to Rule 22.4 of the Code, any announcement of an extension of the 
Offer will state the next closing date. Given that the Offer is unconditional as to 
acceptances, a statement may be made that the Offer will remain open until further 
notice. In the latter case, those Shareholders who have not accepted the Offer will 
be notifi ed in writing at least 14 days before the Offer is closed.”

2.8 Irrevocable Undertakings. Paragraph 5 of the Offer Document states the following:

“5.1 Details of the  Irrevocable Undertakings

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, Emet Grace holds 176,240,539 Shares (the “EG 
Undertaking Shares”), representing approximately 80.05% of the total number of Shares 
and Hing Zeng Min, Audrey (“AHZM”), who is the daughter of JHYP, holds 4,291,300 
Shares (the “AH Undertaking Shares”), representing approximately 1.95% of the total 
number of Shares.

 (a) EG Irrevocable Undertaking

  In connection with the Offer, Emet Grace has provided an irrevocable undertaking 
in favour of the Offeror (the “EG Irrevocable Undertaking”), pursuant to which it 
has undertaken and/or agreed, among other things, the following:

  (i) to accept the Offer in respect of all the EG Undertaking Shares; and

  (ii) to waive all its rights under Rule 30 of the Code to receive any cash 
settlement or payment for its acceptance of the Offer and the subsequent 
transfer of the EG Undertaking Shares to the Offeror (the “Waived Amount”),

  to (collectively, the “Rollover Arrangement”).
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  The Securities Industry Council of Singapore has confi rmed that the Rollover 
Arrangement does not constitute a prohibited special deal within the meaning of 
Rule 10 of the Code. 

 (b) AH Irrevocable Undertaking

  In connection with the Offer, AHZM has provided an irrevocable undertaking in 
favour of the Offeror (the “AH Irrevocable Undertaking” and collectively with 
the EG Irrevocable Undertaking, the “Irrevocable Undertakings” and each, an 
“Irrevocable Undertaking”), pursuant to which she has undertaken and/or agreed, 
among other things, to accept the Offer in respect of all the AH Undertaking Shares. 

 Details of Emet Grace’s and AHZM’s shareholding in the Company which will be tendered 
in acceptance of the Offer by them pursuant to their respective Irrevocable Undertaking 
are as follows:

 

Shareholder

Number of Shares to be 
tendered in acceptance 

of the Offer

Percentage of the 
total number of 

Shares (1)

Emet Grace 176,240,539 80.05%(2) 

AHZM 4,291,300 1.95%(2)

Total 180,531,839 82.00%(2)

 Notes:

 (1) Based on the Company’s issued capital of 220,169,774 Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date.

 (2) Percentages rounded to the nearest two (2) decimal places.

5.2 Termination of the Irrevocable Undertakings

 Each Irrevocable Undertaking will terminate or lapse if the Offer is withdrawn or lapses, 
other than due to a breach by Emet Grace or AHZM (as the case may be) of any of its or 
her (as the case may be) obligations under the relevant Irrevocable Undertaking.

5.3  No Other Irrevocable Undertakings 

 Save for the Irrevocable Undertakings, as at the Latest Practicable Date, neither the 
Offeror nor any person acting in concert with the Offeror has received any irrevocable 
undertaking from any other party to accept or reject the Offer.

5.4 As at the Latest Practicable Date, the number of Shares owned, controlled or agreed to 
be acquired by the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it, together with the total 
number of Shares to which the Irrevocable Undertakings relate, is an aggregate of 
183,755,539 Shares, representing approximately 83.46% of the total number of Shares.”

 

3. FURTHER DETAILS OF THE OFFER 

 Appendix IV to the Offer Document sets out further details on (a) the settlement of the 
consideration for the Offer; (b) the requirements relating to the announcement of the level of 
acceptances of the Offer; and (c) the right of withdrawal of acceptances of the Offer.

4. PROCEDURES FOR ACCEPTANCE 

 Appendix V to the Offer Document sets out the procedures for acceptance of the Offer. 

5. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

 The Company was incorporated in the Republic of Singapore on 23 January 1976 and was listed 
on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST on 17 October 1997. 
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 The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is a designer, builder, owner and operator of high-
speed aluminium craft. The Group owns and operates a fl eet of crewboats, passenger ferries 
and workboats, and designs and builds a variety of high-speed craft at the Group’s shipyards in 
Singapore and Batam, Indonesia. These include fi re fi ghting search-and-rescue vessels, patrol 
boats, security vessels, offshore crewboats, windfarm crew transfer vessels and passenger ferries. 

 Additional information on the Company is set out in Appendix B to this Circular. 

6. INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR AND ITS SHAREHOLDERS 

 The following information on the Offeror and its shareholders has been extracted from paragraph 
4 of the Offer Document and reproduced in italics below. Unless otherwise defi ned, all terms and 
expressions used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defi ned in the Offer 
Document.

“4.1 The Offeror

 The Offeror is an investment holding company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman 
Islands on 6 March 2023. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror has an issued 
share capital of S$1,000, comprising 10,000 ordinary shares (the “Offeror Shares”), 
which are held by the shareholders of the Offeror as follows:

Shareholders of the Offeror
Shareholding 
Percentage

Sponsor 40%

Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir (“JHYP”) 55%

Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong (“JTTC”) 5%

Total 100%

 The board of directors of the Offeror comprises JHYP, JTTC and Mr. Tan Keng Soon 
(Keith) (Founding Partner of Dymon Asia Capital Ltd. (the holding company of the Dymon 
group) and Chairman of the Dymon Asia Private Equity Investment Committee).

4.2 Shareholding in the Offeror

 The shareholding in the Offeror will be maintained at the shareholding proportions set out 
in paragraph 4.1 above until the close of the Offer.

4.3 The Sponsor

 Fairy L.P. (acting by its general partner, Fairy Ltd.) (the “Sponsor”) is a special purpose 
vehicle incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 9 October 2020, which is 
wholly-owned by Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) II Ltd. (as general partner for and 
on behalf of Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) Fund II, L.P.) (“Dymon Asia”). Dymon 
Asia is managed by Dymon Asia Private Equity (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., a Singapore-based 
fund manager that manages Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) Fund, L.P., which has 
committed capital of S$300 million, Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) Fund II, L.P., 
a fund with commitments of US$450 million and Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) 
Fund III, L.P., a fund with commitments of US$650 million.

4.4 The Promoters

 JHYP and JTTC are the directors and key management personnel of the Company. As 
mentioned in paragraph 1 of Appendix I to this Offer Document:

 (a) JHYP is the Executive Chairman on the board of the Company; and 

 (b) JTTC is the Managing Director on the board of the Company.
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4.5 The First Offer

 (a) On 21 January 2021, the Financial Adviser announced, for and on behalf of Emet 
Grace, that Emet Grace intends to make a general offer (the “First Offer”) to 
acquire all the Shares (other than those held directly or indirectly by Emet Grace 
as at the date of the First Offer), in accordance with the Code. Emet Grace is an 
investment holding company incorporated by Dymon Asia (through the Sponsor), 
JHYP and JTTC for the purpose of making the First Offer. 

 (b) The shareholders of Emet Grace during the period of the First Offer and as at the 
Latest Practicable Date are as follows:

 

Name of Shareholder of Emet Grace
Shareholding 
Percentage

Sponsor 40%

JHYP 55%

JTTC 5%

Total 100%

 (c) The First Offer closed on 21 April 2021 with Emet Grace holding 176,240,539 
Shares, representing approximately 80.05%1 of the total number of Shares at the 
relevant time.

4.6 Shareholders’ Agreement

 Following the completion of the First Offer and with a view to privatising the Company, 
the Sponsor and the Promoters (collectively, the “Offeror Shareholders”) have agreed to 
form a consortium through the Offeror to undertake the Offer. The Offeror Shareholders 
have, on the Offer Announcement Date, entered into a shareholders’ agreement (“SHA”) 
with the Offeror to, inter alia, regulate the relationship of the Offeror Shareholders inter se 
as shareholders of the Offeror and in the conduct of the business and affairs of the Offeror 
(including the Offer).

1 The percentage shareholding interest is based on the Company’s issued and paid-up capital of 220,169,774 
Shares as at 21 April 2021.”

7. RATIONALE FOR THE OFFER AND THE OFFEROR’S INTENTIONS FOR THE COMPANY 

 The full text of the rationale for the Offer  has been extracted from paragraph 6 of the Offer 
Document and reproduced in italics below. Unless otherwise defi ned, all terms and expressions 
used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defi ned in the Offer Document. 
Shareholders are advised to read the extract below carefully.

“6.1 Low Trading Liquidity of Shares

 The trading volume of the Shares has been low, with an average daily trading volume2 of 
approximately 6,050 Shares, 7,856 Shares, 6,867 Shares and 9,973 Shares during the 
respective one (1)-month period, three (3)-month period, six (6)-month period and twelve 
(12)-month period up to and including 4 May 2023 (the “Last Trading Day”), being the last 
full Market Day immediately prior to the Offer Announcement. Each of these represents 
less than 0.005% of the total number of Shares for any of the aforementioned relevant 
periods.

 The Offer and the Final Offer Price enhances the opportunity for Shareholders, who fi nd 
it diffi cult to exit the Company as a result of the low trading volume in the Shares, to 
liquidate and realise their investment in the Shares at a premium to the prevailing market 
prices which may otherwise not be available given the low trading liquidity of the Shares.
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6.2  Final Offer Price at a Premium to the Last Transacted Share Price 

 The Final Offer Price represents a premium of approximately 16.90% over the last 
transacted price per Share of S$0.710 on 4 May 2023, being the last Market Day on 
which the Shares were transacted prior to the Offer Announcement.

 When compared to the benchmark prices of the Shares up to and including the Last 
Trading Day, the Final Offer Price also represents a premium of approximately 18.07%, 
18.74%, 18.57% and 17.40% over the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) per 
Share for the one (1)-month, three (3)-month, six (6)-month and twelve (12)-month 
periods, respectively.

 The Offer and the Final Offer Price reinforces the clean cash exit opportunity for 
Shareholders, to realise their entire investment in the Shares at a premium over the 
prevailing trading prices of the Shares without incurring brokerage and other trading costs.

6.3  Greater Management Flexibility 

 As described in paragraph 8.3 below, the Offeror is making the Offer with a view to 
delisting the Company from the Mainboard of the SGX-ST and exercising any rights of 
compulsory acquisition that may arise under Section 215(1) of the Companies Act. The 
Offeror believes that privatising the Company will give the Offeror and the management of 
the Company more fl exibility to manage the business of the Company, optimise the use of 
its management and capital resources and facilitate the implementation of any operational 
change.

6.4  Compliance Costs of Maintaining Listing 

 In maintaining its listed status, the Company incurs compliance and associated costs. In 
the event that the Company is delisted from the SGX-ST, the Company will be able to 
save on expenses relating to the maintenance of a listed status and focus its resources on 
its business operations.

2 Calculated by using the total volume of Shares traded divided by the number of Market Days with respect to the 
one (1)-month period, three (3)-month period, six (6)-month period and twelve (12)-month period respectively up 
to and including the Last Trading Day.” 

8. TH E OFFEROR’S INTENTIONS REGARDING LISTING STATUS AND COMPULSORY 
ACQUISITION 

8.1 Offeror’s Intentions.  The full text stating the Offeror’s intentions relating to the listing status 
and compulsory acquisition of the Company has been extracted from paragraph 8 of the Offer 
Document and reproduced in italics below. Unless otherwise defi ned, all terms and expressions 
used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defi ned in the Offer Document. 
Shareholders are advised to read the extract below carefully.

“8.1 Listing Status

 Pursuant to Rule 1105 of the Listing Manual, upon an announcement by the Offeror that 
acceptances have been received pursuant to the Offer that bring the holdings in Shares 
of the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it to above 90% of the total number of 
Shares (excluding any Shares held in treasury), the SGX-ST may suspend the trading of 
the Shares in the Ready and Unit Share markets until it is satisfi ed that at least 10% of 
the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares held in treasury) are held by at least 
500 Shareholders who are members of the public.
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 Rule 1303(1) of the Listing Manual provides that where the Offeror succeeds in garnering 
acceptances exceeding 90% of the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares held 
in treasury), thus causing the percentage of the total number of Shares (excluding any 
Shares held in treasury) held in public hands to fall below 10%, the SGX-ST will suspend 
trading of the Shares only at the close of the Offer.

 Under Rule 724(1) of the Listing Manual, if the percentage of the Shares held in public 
hands falls below 10%, the Company must, as soon as practicable, announce that fact, 
and the SGX-ST may suspend trading of all the Shares. Rule 724(2) of the Listing Manual 
states that the SGX-ST may allow the Company a period of three (3) months, or such 
longer period as the SGX-ST may agree, to raise the percentage of the Shares held in 
public hands to at least 10%, failing which the Company may be removed from the Offi cial 
List of the SGX-ST.

8.2 Compulsory Acquisition 

 Pursuant to Section 215(1) of the Companies Act, in the event that the Offeror acquires 
not less than 90% of the total number of Shares (other than those already held by the 
Offeror, its related corporations or their respective nominees as at the date of the Offer 
and excluding any Shares held in treasury), the Offeror will be entitled to exercise the right 
to compulsorily acquire all the Shares from Shareholders who have not accepted the Offer 
at a price equal to the Final Offer Price per Share (the “Compulsory Acquisition”).

 In addition, pursuant to Section 215(3) of the Companies Act, if the Offeror acquires such 
number of Shares which, together with the Shares held by it, its related corporations and 
their respective nominees, comprise 90% or more of the total number of Shares, the 
Shareholders who have not accepted the Offer will have a right to require the Offeror to 
acquire their Shares at the Final Offer Price per Share. Such Shareholders who wish to 
exercise such a right are advised to seek their own independent legal advice.

8.3 Offeror’s Intentions 

 The Offeror intends to make the Company its wholly-owned subsidiary and does 
not intend to preserve the listing status of the Company. Accordingly, the Offeror, 
if and when entitled, intends to exercise its rights of Compulsory Acquisition and 
does not intend to take any step for the public fl oat to be restored and/or for any 
trading suspension of the Shares by the SGX-ST to be lifted in the event that, inter 
alia, less than 10% of the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares held in 
treasury) are held in public hands.

 In addition, the Offeror also reserves the right to seek a voluntary delisting of the 
Company from the SGX-ST pursuant to Rules 1307 and 1309 of the Listing Manual 
(collectively, the “Voluntary Delisting Rules”). Without prejudice to the foregoing, if the 
Offeror receives, as at the Closing Date, valid acceptances of the Offer from Shareholders 
(other than persons acting in concert with the Offeror) (the “Independent Shareholders”) 
representing at least 75% of the total number of Shares held by the Independent 
Shareholders and subject to substantive compliance with the other requirements set out in 
the Voluntary Delisting Rules, the Offeror intends to seek the SGX-ST’s waiver from strict 
compliance with such Voluntary Delisting Rules.

 In the event that the public fl oat is lost and the Offeror is unable to exercise its right of 
Compulsory Acquisition or the Company is unable to meet the requirements set out in 
the Voluntary Delisting Rules, the trading of the Shares may be subjected to a prolonged 
period of suspension. 
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 Subject to normal business conditions and other than in the normal course of business, 
the Offeror does not intend to (a) make major changes to the business of the Company 
or its management team; (b) re-deploy the fi xed assets of the Company; or (c) discontinue 
the employment of the employees of the Company and of its subsidiaries. Nonetheless, 
the Offeror retains the fl exibility at any time to consider any options or opportunities which 
may present themselves and which the Offeror may regard to be in the interests of the 
Company.”

8.2  SGX RegCo’s regulator’s column in relation to delisting. In the event that the Company loses 
its free fl oat pursuant to the Offer but the following conditions are met, SGX RegCo may take the 
view that the delisting requirements under the Listing Manual are substantively complied with and 
will consider waiving strict compliance with such delisting requirements:

 (a) as at the close of the Offer, the Offeror has received acceptances from independent 
Shareholders (i.e. Shareholders excluding the Offeror and parties acting in concert with 
it) that represent a majority of at least 75% of the total number of issued shares held by 
independent shareholders (“75% Acceptance Condition”); and

 (b) the Offer is fair and reasonable (and the IFA has opined that the Offer is fair and reasonable).

 It is important that Shareholders are aware of the potential consequences in considering whether 
to accept the Offer, particularly where free fl oat has been lost but the requisite conditions 
for delisting, including the 75% Acceptance Condition, are not met. In such circumstances, 
Shareholders should note the risk that the Company may consequently be subject to prolonged 
suspension. 

 For more information, please refer to the column entitled “SGX RegCo’s Expectations on 
Information to be provided to Shareholders in connection with a General Offer” published by 
SGX Regco on 4 May 2020 at https://www.sgx.com/media-centre/20200504-regulators-column-
sgx-regcos-expectations-information-be-provided.

9. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 

 Details of the Directors including, amongst other things, the Directors’ direct and deemed interests 
in the Offeror Securities and the Company Securities as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out 
in Appendix B to this Circular.

10. ADVICE OF THE IFA TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 

10.1 IFA. Shareholders should read and consider carefully the advice of the IFA to the Independent 
Directors in respect of the Offer as contained in the IFA Letter and the Recommendation as set out 
in Section 11.2 of this Circular before deciding on whether to accept or reject the Offer. The IFA 
Letter setting out the advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer is set 
out in Appendix A to this Circular.

10.2 Evaluation of the Offer by the IFA. The key factors relied upon by the IFA in arriving at its advice 
to the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer are set out in paragraph  9 of the IFA Letter. 
Shareholders should read and carefully consider the key factors relied upon by the IFA in 
arriving at its advice to the Independent Directors as set out in paragraph  9 of the IFA Letter 
in conjunction with, and in the context of, the full text of the IFA Letter. 

10.3 Advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors on the Offer. Taking into consideration the 
factors set out in the IFA Letter and the information available to the IFA as at the Latest Practicable 
Date and subject to the qualifi cations and assumptions set out in the IFA Letter, the IFA has 
made certain recommendations to the Independent Directors as set out in paragraph  9 of the IFA 
Letter, an extract of which is reproduced in italics below. Shareholders should read the extract in 
conjunction with, and in the context of, the full text of the IFA Letter. 
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“9.  OPINION 
 …

 Having considered the various factors set out in the earlier sections of this Letter 
and summarised below, we are of the opinion that the fi nancial terms of the Offer 
are fair and reasonable.

 We consider the fi nancial terms of the Offer to be FAIR, after taking into consideration the 
following factors:

 (a) We note that after the release of the 2020 Holding Announcement and prior to 
the First Offer, trading prices of the Shares increased substantially, of which the 
Shares closed at a high of S$0.640 on 7 January 2021 and 12 January 2021. We 
further note that the trading prices of the Shares remained elevated during the offer 
period of the First Offer. After the close of the First Offer and up to 4 May 2023 
(being the last traded day prior the Offer Announcement), the Shares closed at a 
range of between S$0.595 and S$0.740 and the VWAP of the Shares was S$0.672. 
During this period, we note that the Shares have never closed below the highest 
closing price of the Shares during the Period Prior to 2020 Holding Announcement 
of S$0.535 per Share.

 (b) The Final Offer Price represents: i) S$0.120 or 16.9% over the VWAP of the Shares 
of S$0.710 on 4 May 2022, being the day when the Shares were last traded prior to 
the release of the Offer Announcement; and ii) a premium of approximately 18.1%, 
18.7%, 18.6%, 17.4%, 23.5% and 38.6% over the VWAP of the Shares for the 
1-month, 3-month, 6-month, 1-year, 2-year, and 3-year periods prior to the release 
of the Offer Announcement respectively.

 (c) Over the 3-year period prior to the release of the Offer Announcement, the Shares 
have traded between a low of S$0.405 and a high of S$0.745. The Final Offer 
Price represents a premium of approximately S$0.425 or 104.9% over the lowest 
transacted price of the Shares and a premium of approximately S$0.085 or 11.4% 
over the highest transacted price of the Shares. Further, we note that the Final Offer 
Price represents a premium of approximately S$0.356 or 75.1% over the VWAP for 
the Period Prior to 2020 Holding Announcement of S$0.474. The Shares have not 
traded above the Final Offer Price during the 3-year period prior to the release of 
the Offer Announcement.

 (d) The Final Offer Price represents a premium of approximately S$0.007 or 0.9% over 
the VWAP of the Shares of S$0.823 for the period after the release of the Offer 
Announcement to the Latest Practicable Date.

 (e) Based on the EV/EBITDA and P/NAV statistics of the Comparable Companies, 
we are of the view that the estimated range of values of the Shares is between 
S$0.669 and S$0.889 per Share. The Final Offer Price of S$0.830 is within the 
range of the estimated range of values of the Shares.

 (f) The Final Offer Price represents a discount of 26.0% on an as-is basis and 26.9% 
on a completed basis to the RNAV per Share of S$1.122 on an as-is basis and 
S$1.135 on a completed basis and values the Group at a P/RNAV ratio of 0.74 
times on an as-is basis and 0.73 times on a completed basis. Notwithstanding the 
above-mentioned discount, there is no certainty and assurance that each of the 
Appraised Assets is able to be sold at the market value based on the Summary 
Valuation Reports, given that the existing nature of each of the above-mentioned 
assets which are specifi c to the Group’s own use, and that the Group may face 
diffi culties in locating potential buyers who are interested and willing to acquire 
the above-mentioned assets at the valuation amount. Further, we understand from
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  the Company that the Company does not have the intention to sell the Appraised 
Assets as of the Latest Practicable Date. In addition, while Marco Polo is a listed 
security on the SGX-ST, given that the Group owns 6.5% of the total issued shares 
in Marco Polo, it may be diffi cult for the Group to fully realise its Marco Polo Shares 
at its last traded price as at the Latest Practicable Date.

 (g) The Shares has consistently traded at a discount to the NAV per Share of the 
Group over the Period Under Review. Notwithstanding that the discount to Adjusted 
NAV as implied by the Final Offer Price of 5.4% is less than the range of discounts 
at which the Shares has consistently traded at over the Period Under Review.

 (h) Comparison with Comparable Companies:

  (i) The PE ratio of the Group of 26.74 times implied by the Final Offer Price 
is above the upper range, and also mean and median PE ratios of the 
Comparable Companies of 11.45 times and 10.87 times respectively;

  (ii) The EV/EBITDA ratio of the Group of 7.81 times implied by the Final 
Offer Price is within the range and higher than the mean and median EV/
EBITDA ratios of the Comparable Companies of 7.40 times and 6.31 times 
respectively;

  (iii) The P/Adjusted NAV ratio of the Group of 0.95 times implied by the Final 
Offer Price is within the range and slightly below the mean and median P/
NAV ratios of the Comparable Companies of 1.00 times and 1.01 times 
respectively; and

  (iv) The P/RNAV ratio of the Group of 0.74 times on an as-is basis and 0.73 
times on a completion basis implied by the Final Offer Price is within the 
range but below the mean and the median P/NAV ratios of the Comparable 
Companies of 1.00 times and 1.01 times respectively. We note that bulk of 
the assets of the Comparable Companies comprised of property, plant and 
equipment and are recorded at cost and are not fair valued. Accordingly, the 
P/NAV ratios of the Comparable Companies may not be directly comparable 
with the P/RNAV of the Group implied by the Final Offer Price.

 (i) Comparison with Privatisation Transactions:

  (i) The premia implied by the Final Offer Price of 16.9% over the last transacted 
price of the Shares prior to the Offer Announcement Date is within the 
range but below the median and mean of the corresponding premia of the 
Privatisation Transactions;

  (ii) The premia implied by the Final Offer Price of 18.1% over the VWAPs 
for the 1-month period is within the range and close to the median of the 
corresponding premia of the Privatisation Transactions but below the mean of 
the corresponding premia of the Privatisation Transactions;

  (iii) The premia implied by the Final Offer Price of 18.7% and 18.6% over the 
VWAPs for the 3-month and 6-month period are within the range but below 
the mean and median of the corresponding premia of the Privatisation 
Transactions;

  (iv) The P/Adjusted NAV ratio of the Group of 0.95 times as implied by the Final 
Offer Price is within the range of P/NAV or P/RNAV ratios of the Privatisation 
Transactions and above the median P/NAV or P/RNAV ratios of the 
Privatisation Transactions but below the mean P/NAV or P/RNAV ratios of the 
Privatisation Transactions; and
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  (v) The P/RNAV ratio of the Group 0.74 times on an as-is basis and 0.73 times 
on a completion basis implied by the Final Offer Price is within the range and 
close to the median P/NAV or P/RNAV ratios of the Privatisation Transactions 
but below the mean P/NAV or P/RNAV ratios of the Privatisation Transactions.

 We consider the fi nancial terms of the Offer to be REASONABLE, after taking into 
consideration the following factors:

 (a) We note that for 10-year Period Prior to Offer Announcement, the Share price 
has never closed at or above the Final Offer Price. There is no assurance that 
the market prices of the Shares would remain at the current prevailing level after 
the close of the Offer, and that the past trading performance of the Shares should 
not in any way be relied upon as an indication or a promise of its future trading 
performance.

 (b) We have also considered the historical traded prices of the Shares prior to the 
release of the 2020 Holding Announcement. We note that the trading prices of 
the Shares increased substantially after the announcement of the First Offer and 
remained elevated after the close of the First Offer. However, during the 3-year 
period prior to the announcement of the Offer, we note while the revenue of the 
Group increased in FY2021 and FY2022, the net profi t of the Group was in a 
downwards trend.

 (c) The average daily trading volume of the Shares for the 1-month, 3-month, 6-month, 
1-year, 2-year, 3-year periods prior to the release of the Offer Announcement 
represent 0.01%, 0.02%, 0.02%, 0.02%, 0.04% and 0.26% of the free fl oat of the 
Shares respectively. We note that the average daily trading volume of the Shares for 
the 3-year period is substantially higher due mainly to the trades done during the 
First Offer. The Offer provides Shareholders, who fi nd it diffi cult to exit the Company 
as a result of the low trading volume in the Shares, to liquidate and realise their 
investment in the Shares at a premium to the prevailing market prices which may 
otherwise not be available given the low trading liquidity of the Shares. There is no 
certainty that Shareholders will otherwise be able to obtain a better value for their 
Shares if they do not accept the Offer.

 (d) The LTM dividend yield of the Company is below the LTM dividend yield of YZJ 
(being the only Comparable Company who had paid dividend in the LTM) and 
STI ETF, suggesting that a Shareholder who receives the proceeds from the Offer 
may potentially experience an increase in investment income if he re-invests the 
proceeds from the Offer Price in the shares of the Comparable Companies that has 
paid out dividends in their respective last fi nancial year or the STI ETF. There is 
no assurance that the Company or any of the selected alternative investments will 
continue to pay dividends in the future and/or maintain that level of dividend paid in 
past periods.

 (e) The Final Offer Price of S$0.830 is higher than the First Offer Price of S$0.650, 
representing a premium of S$0.180 or 27.7% over the First Offer Price. 
Notwithstanding that the PE ratio, P/NAV ratio and P/RNAV ratio implied by the 
Final Offer Price are higher than the PE ratio, P/NAV ratio and P/RNAV ratio implied 
by the First Offer Price.

 (f) As at the Latest Practicable Date, save for the Offer made by the Offeror, no 
alternative offer from any third party has been received. Further, given that the 
Offeror has already achieved statutory control of the Company, the likelihood of 
competing offers is low.

 (g) The Offeror does not intend to revise the Final Offer Price, save that the Offeror 
reserves the right to do so in a competitive situation.
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 (h) The Offeror intends to make the Company its wholly-owned subsidiary and does 
not intend to preserve the listing status of the Company. Accordingly, the Offeror, 
if and when entitled, intends to exercise its rights of Compulsory Acquisition and 
does not intend to take any step for the public fl oat to be restored and/or for any 
trading suspension of the Shares by the SGX-ST to be lifted in the event that, inter 
alia, less than 10% of the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares held in 
treasury) are held in public hands.

 Accordingly, we advise the Independent Directors to recommend that Shareholders 
ACCEPT the Offer, unless Shareholders are able to obtain a price higher than 
the Offer Price on the open market, after taking into account all brokerage 
commissions or transactions costs in connection with open market transactions.”

  

11. RECOMMENDATION OF THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

11.1 Independence of Directors. Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir is currently the Executive Chairman of the 
Company. He is also a director and a shareholder of the Offeror. 

 Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong is currently the Managing Director of the Company. He is also 
director and a shareholder of the Offeror.

 Mr. Keith Tan Keng Soon is currently a Non-independent and Non-executive Director of the 
Company. He is the Chairman of the Dymon Asia Private Equity Investment Committee and is also 
a director of the Offeror. 

 As Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir, Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong and Mr. Keith Tan Keng Soon will 
be participating in the Offer in a signifi cant manner and not merely as concert parties of the 
Offeror, they will face irreconcilable confl icts of interest in relation to the Offer that would render 
it inappropriate for them to join the Independent Directors in making a Recommendation to 
Shareholders in connection with the Offer. 

 The SIC had ruled on 14 April 2023 that Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir, Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong 
and Mr. Keith Tan Keng Soon are exempted from the requirement to make a Recommendation to 
Shareholders in connection with the Offer.

 Notwithstanding the above, all the Directors (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Mr. Jeffrey 
Hing Yih Peir, Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong and Mr. Keith Tan Keng Soon) are jointly and 
severally responsible for the accuracy of facts stated or opinions expressed in documents and 
advertisements issued by, or on behalf of, the Company in connection with the Offer. 

11.2 Independent Directors’ Recommendation. The Independent Directors, having considered 
carefully, amongst other things, the terms of the Offer and the advice given by the IFA in the 
IFA Letter,  CONCUR with the IFA’s assessment of the Offer and its Recommendation thereon. 
Accordingly, the Independent Directors recommend that Shareholders  ACCEPT  the Offer or sell 
their Shares in the open market if they are able to obtain a price higher than the Final Offer Price 
(after deducting transaction costs). 

 SHAREHOLDERS ARE ADVISED TO READ THE IFA LETTER SET OUT IN APPENDIX A TO 
THIS CIRCULAR CAREFULLY BEFORE DECIDING WHETHER TO ACCEPT OR REJECT 
THE OFFER. SHAREHOLDERS SHOULD NOTE THAT THE IFA’S OPINION SHOULD NOT BE 
RELIED UPON BY ANY SHAREHOLDER AS THE SOLE BASIS FOR DECIDING WHETHER OR 
NOT TO ACCEPT THE OFFER. SHAREHOLDERS ARE ALSO URGED TO READ THE OFFER 
DOCUMENT CAREFULLY.

 Shareholders are also advised to read the  Summary Valuation Reports set out in Appendix 
E to this Circular carefully, in particular, the terms of reference, key assumptions and critical 
factors. 
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 The IFA and the Independent Directors, in giving their advice and making their 
Recommendation respectively, have not had regard to the specifi c investment objectives, 
fi nancial situation, tax position, risk profi les or unique needs and constraints of any 
individual Shareholder. As each Shareholder would have different investment objectives 
and profi les, any individual Shareholder who may require specifi c advice in respect of his 
investment objectives or portfolio should consult his stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, 
accountant, tax adviser or other professional adviser immediately.

 Shareholders should also note that there is no assurance that the price of the Shares 
will remain at current levels after the close or lapse of the Offer and the current price 
performance of the Shares may not be indicative of the future price performance levels of 
the Shares.

12. ACTION TO BE TAKEN BY SHAREHOLDERS 

12.1 Shareholders who DO NOT WISH TO ACCEPT the Offer. Shareholders who do not wish to 
accept the Offer should take no further action in respect of the Offer Document, the FAA and/or the 
FAT which have been sent to them.

12.2 Shareholders who WISH TO ACCEPT the Offer. Shareholders who wish to accept the Offer must 
do so no later than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing Date, abiding by the procedures for 
the acceptance of the Offer as set out in Appendix V to the Offer Document, the FAA and/or the 
FAT.

 Acceptances should be completed and returned as soon as possible and, in any event, so as to 
be received, on behalf of the Offeror, by CDP (in respect of the FAA) or the Share Registrar (in 
respect of the FAT), as the case may be, not later than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing 
Date. 

 

13. OVERSEAS SHAREHOLDERS AND COPIES OF THIS CIRCULAR 

13.1 Overseas Shareholders. The full text relating to Overseas Shareholders has been extracted from 
paragraph 9 of the Offer Document and is reproduced in italics below. Unless otherwise defi ned, all 
terms and expressions used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defi ned in 
the Offer Document.

 “The availability of the Offer to Shareholders whose mailing addresses are outside 
of Singapore (as shown on the register of members of the Company or, as the case 
may be, in the records of CDP) (collectively, the “Overseas Shareholders” and each, 
an “Overseas Shareholder”) may be affected by the laws of the relevant overseas 
jurisdictions. Accordingly, any Overseas Shareholder should inform himself about 
and observe any applicable legal requirements, and exercise caution in relation to the 
Offer, as this Offer Document, the FAAs and the FATs have not been reviewed by any 
regulatory authority in any overseas jurisdiction. Where there are potential restrictions 
on sending this Offer Document, the FAAs and/or the FATs to any overseas 
jurisdictions, the Offeror, the Financial Adviser and CDP each reserves the right not 
to send these documents to Shareholders in such overseas jurisdictions. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Offer is open to all Shareholders, including those to whom 
this Offer Document, the FAAs and/or the FATs have not been, or may not be, sent.

 Copies of this Offer Document and any other formal documentation relating to the 
Offer are not being, and must not be, directly or indirectly, mailed or otherwise 
forwarded, distributed or sent in or into or from any jurisdiction where the making of 
or the acceptance of the Offer would violate the law of that jurisdiction (a “Restricted 
Jurisdiction”) and will not be capable of acceptance by any such use, means, 
instrumentality or facility within any Restricted Jurisdiction and persons receiving such 
documents (including custodians, nominees and trustees) must not mail or otherwise 
forward, distribute or send them in or into or from any Restricted Jurisdiction.
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 The Offer (unless otherwise determined by the Offeror and permitted by applicable laws 
and regulations) will not be made, directly or indirectly, in or into, or by the use of mails 
of, or by any means or instrumentality (including without limitation, telephonically or 
electronically) of interstate or foreign commerce of, or any facility of a national, state or 
other securities exchange of, any Restricted Jurisdiction, and the Offer will not be capable 
of acceptance by any such use, means, instrumentality or facility.

 Overseas Shareholders may, nonetheless, obtain copies of this Offer Document, the FAAs 
and/or the FATs and any related documents, during normal business hours and up to the 
Closing Date, from the Offeror through CDP (if he is a depositor) by contacting CDP via 
telephone (+65 6535 7511) or email services (asksgx@sgx.com), or the Share Registrar 
(if he is a scripholder), at its offi ce located at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay 
Tower, Singapore 098632.

 Alternatively, an Overseas Shareholder may write to the Offeror through CDP (if he is 
a depositor) at Robinson Road Post Offi ce, P.O. Box 1984, Singapore 903934, or the 
Share Registrar (if he is a scripholder) at the address listed above, to request for this Offer 
Document, the FAAs and/or the FATs and any related documents to be sent to an address 
in Singapore by ordinary post at such Overseas Shareholder’s own risk, up to fi ve (5) 
Market Days prior to the Closing Date.

 Electronic copies of this Offer Document, the FAA and FAT are also available on the 
website of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com. 

 It is the responsibility of any Overseas Shareholder who wishes to (a) request for this 
Offer Document, the FAAs and/or the FATs and/or any related documents; or (b) accept 
the Offer, to satisfy himself as to the full observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdiction 
in that connection, including the obtaining of any governmental or other consent which 
may be required, and compliance with all necessary formalities or legal requirements 
and the payment of any taxes, imposts, duties or other requisite payments due in such 
jurisdiction. Such Overseas Shareholder shall be liable for any such taxes, imposts, 
duties or other requisite payments payable and the Offeror and any person acting on 
its behalf (including the Financial Adviser) shall be fully indemnifi ed and held harmless 
by such Overseas Shareholder for any such taxes, imposts, duties or other requisite 
payments as the Offeror and/or any person acting on its behalf (including the Financial 
Adviser) may be required to pay. In (i) requesting for this Offer Document, the FAAs 
and/or the FATs and any related documents; and/or (ii) accepting the Offer, the Overseas 
Shareholder represents and warrants to the Offeror and the Financial Adviser that he is 
in full observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdiction in that connection, and that he 
is in full compliance with all necessary formalities or legal requirements. Any Overseas 
Shareholder who is in any doubt about his position should consult his professional 
adviser in the relevant jurisdiction. 

 The Offeror and the Financial Adviser each reserves the right to notify any matter, 
including the fact that the Offer has been made, to any or all Shareholders (including 
Overseas Shareholders) by announcement on the website of the SGX-ST or notice 
and if necessary, by paid advertisement in a newspaper published and circulated in 
Singapore, in which case, such notice shall be deemed to have been suffi ciently given 
notwithstanding any failure by any Shareholder (including an Overseas Shareholder) to 
receive or see such announcement, notice or advertisement.” 

 
13.2 Copies of this Circular. This Circular will not be sent to all Overseas Shareholders due to 

potential restrictions on sending such documents to the relevant overseas jurisdictions. Any 
affected Overseas Shareholder may, nevertheless, obtain copies of this Circular during normal 
business hours up to the Closing Date from the offi ces of the Share Registrar at 1 Harbourfront 
Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632, download a copy of this Circular from the 
website of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com, or make a request to the Share Registrar for this Circular 
to be sent to an address in Singapore by ordinary post at his own risk, up to fi ve (5) Market Days 
prior to the Closing Date. 
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 It is the responsibility of any Overseas Shareholder who wishes to request this Circular and/
or any related documents to satisfy himself as to the full observance of the laws of the relevant 
jurisdictions in that connection, including the obtaining of any governmental or other consent 
which may be required, or compliance with other necessary formalities or legal requirements. In 
requesting for this Circular and/or any related documents the Overseas Shareholder represents 
and warrants to the Company that he is in full observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdiction 
in that connection, and that he is in full compliance with all necessary formalities or legal 
requirements.

14. INFORMATION PERTAINING TO CPFIS INVESTORS AND SRS INVESTORS

 The full text relating to CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors has been extracted from paragraph 
12 of the Offer Document and reproduced in italics below. Unless otherwise defi ned, all terms and 
expressions used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defi ned in the Offer 
Document.

“CPFIS Investors will receive further information on how to accept the Offer from the 
CPF Agent Banks directly. CPFIS Investors are advised to consult their respective CPF 
Agent Banks should they require further information, and if they are in any doubt as to the 
action they should take, CPFIS Investors should seek independent professional advice. 
CPFIS Investors who wish to accept the Offer are to reply to their respective CPF Agent 
Banks by the deadline stated in the letter from their respective CPF Agent Banks. CPFIS 
Investors who accept the Offer will receive the Final Offer Price payable in respect of their 
Offer Shares in their CPF investment accounts. 

SRS Investors will receive further information on how to accept the Offer from the SRS 
Agent Banks directly. SRS Investors are advised to consult their respective SRS Agent 
Banks should they require further information, and if they are in any doubt as to the action 
they should take, SRS Investors should seek independent professional advice. SRS 
Investors who wish to accept the Offer are to reply to their respective SRS Agent Banks 
by the deadline stated in the letter from their respective SRS Agent Banks. SRS Investors 
who accept the Offer will receive the Final Offer Price payable in respect of their Offer 
Shares in their SRS investment accounts.”

15. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

15.1 The Directors (including those who have delegated detailed supervision of this Circular) have 
taken all reasonable care and made all reasonable inquiries to ensure that the facts stated and, 
to the best of their knowledge, all opinions expressed in this Circular (other than those relating 
to the Offeror and the Offer) have been arrived at after due and careful consideration, and are 
fair and accurate, and that no material facts have been omitted from this Circular, and they jointly 
and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Circular 
accordingly.

15.2 In respect of the IFA Letter and the  Summary Valuation Reports, the sole responsibility of the 
Directors has been to ensure that the facts stated with respect to the Group are fair and accurate.

15.3 The Recommendation set out in Section 11 of this Circular is the sole responsibility of the 
Independent Directors.

15.4 Where any information has been extracted or reproduced from published or otherwise publicly 
available sources (including, without limitation, the Offer Announcement), the sole responsibility 
of the Directors has been to ensure through reasonable enquiries that such information has been 
accurately and correctly extracted from such sources or, as the case may be, reproduced in this 
Circular.
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16. CONSENTS

16.1  The IFA has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this Circular with the 
inclusion of its name, the IFA Letter setting out its advice to the Independent Directors set out in 
Appendix A of this Circular, and all references thereto, in the form and context in which they appear 
in this Circular. 

16.2  Each of the Independent Valuers has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the 
issue of this Circular with the inclusion of its name, the  Summary Valuation Reports relating to its 
Valuation Report set out in Appendix E of this Circular, and all references thereto, in the form and 
context in which they appear in this Circular. 

17. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

 Copies of the following documents are available for inspection at the registered offi ce of the 
Company at 21 Tuas Road, Singapore 638489 during normal business hours from the date of this 
Circular up to and including the Closing Date: 

 (a) the Constitution of the Company;

 (b) the annual reports of the Company for FY2020, FY2021 and FY2022;

 (c) the IFA Letter as set out in Appendix A to this Circular; 

 (d) the Valuation Reports; 

 (e) the FY2022 Results as set out in Appendix D to this Circular; and

 (f) the letter of consents from the IFA and the Independent Valuers referred to in Section 16 of 
this Circular.

18. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

 The attention of Shareholders is also drawn to the Appendices which form part of this Circular.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

Joanna Tung May Fong
Finance and Administration Director
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OF THE COMPANY IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER

Unless otherwise defined or the context otherwise requires, all terms defined in the circular dated 8 
June 2023 (“Circular”) issued by Penguin International Limited (“Company”) to the shareholders of the 
Company (“Shareholders”) shall have the same meaning herein. 
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inter alia

inter alia

inter alia
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APPENDIX A: LETTER FROM THE IFA TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 
OF THE COMPANY IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER
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“4.1  The Offeror  
 
The Offeror is an investment holding company incorporated under the laws of the 
Cayman Islands on 6 March 2023. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror has 
an issued share capital of S$1,000, comprising 10,000 ordinary shares (the “Offeror 
Shares”), which are held by the shareholders of the Offeror as follows:  

 

Shareholders of the Offeror Shareholding 
Percentage 

Sponsor  40% 
Mr. Jeffery Hing Yih Peir (“JHYP”) 55% 
Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong (“JTTC”) 5% 

Total 100% 
 

The board of directors of the Offeror comprises JHYP, JTTC and Mr. Tan Keng Soon 
(Keith) (Founding Partner of Dymon Asia Capital Ltd. (the holding company of the 
Dymon group) and Chairman of the Dymon Asia Private Equity Investment Committee). 

 
4.2  Shareholding in the Offeror  

  
The shareholding in the Offeror will be maintained at the shareholding proportions set 
out in paragraph 4.1 above until the close of the Offer. 

 
4.3  The Sponsor  

  
Fairy L.P. (acting by its general partner, Fairy Ltd.) (the “Sponsor”) is a special purpose 
vehicle incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 9 October 2020, which 
is wholly-owned by Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) II Ltd. (as general partner 
for and on behalf of Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) Fund II, L.P.) (“Dymon 
Asia”). Dymon Asia is managed by Dymon Asia Private Equity (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., 
a Singapore-based fund manager that manages Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) 
Fund, L.P., which has committed capital of S$300 million, Dymon Asia Private Equity 
(S.E. Asia) Fund II, L.P., a fund with commitments of US$450 million and Dymon Asia 
Private Equity (S.E. Asia) Fund III, L.P., a fund with commitments of US$650 million. 

 
4.4  The Promoters  

  
JHYP and JTTC are the directors and key management personnel of the Company. As 
mentioned in paragraph 1 of Appendix I to this Offer Document: 
 
(a)  JHYP is the Executive Chairman on the board of the Company; and 
 
(b)  JTTC is the Managing Director on the board of the Company. 
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4.5  The First Offer  
  

(a)  On 21 January 2021, the Financial Adviser announced, for and on behalf of 
Emet Grace, that Emet Grace intends to make a general offer (the “First Offer”) 
to acquire all the Shares (other than those held directly or indirectly by Emet 
Grace as at the date of the First Offer), in accordance with the Code. Emet 
Grace is an investment holding company incorporated by Dymon Asia (through 
the Sponsor), JHYP and JTTC for the purpose of making the First Offer. 

 
(b)  The shareholders of Emet Grace during the period of the First Offer and as at 

the Latest Practicable Date are as follows: 
 

Name of Shareholder of Emet Grace Shareholding 
Percentage 

Sponsor  40% 
JHYP 55% 
JTTC 5% 

Total 100% 
 

(c)  The First Offer closed on 21 April 2021 with Emet Grace holding 176,240,539 
Shares, representing approximately 80.05%(1) of the total number of Shares at 
the relevant time. 

 
4.6  Shareholders’ Agreement 

 
Following the completion of the First Offer and with a view to privatising the Company, 
the Sponsor and the Promoters (collectively, the “Offeror Shareholders”) have agreed 
to form a consortium through the Offeror to undertake the Offer. The Offeror 
Shareholders have, on the Offer Announcement Date, entered into a shareholders’ 
agreement (“SHA”) with the Offeror to, inter alia, regulate the relationship of the Offeror 
Shareholders inter se as shareholders of the Offeror and in the conduct of the business 
and affairs of the Offeror (including the Offer).” 

“The Company was incorporated in the Republic of Singapore on 23 January 1976 and was 
listed on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST on 17 October 1997.  
 
The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is a designer, builder, owner and operator of high-
speed aluminium craft. The Group owns and operates a fleet of crewboats, passenger ferries 
and workboats, and designs and builds a variety of high-speed craft at the Group’s shipyards 
in Singapore and Batam, Indonesia. These include fire fighting search-and-rescue vessels, 
patrol boats, security vessels, offshore crewboats, windfarm crew transfer vessels and 
passenger ferries.  
 
Additional information on the Company is set out in Appendix B to this Circular.” 
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“5.1  Details of the Irrevocable Undertakings 
 

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Emet Grace holds 176,240,539 Shares (the “EG 
Undertaking Shares”), representing approximately 80.05% of the total number of 
Shares and Hing Zeng Min, Audrey (“AHZM”), who is the daughter of JHYP, holds 
4,291,300 Shares (the “AH Undertaking Shares”), representing approximately 1.95% 
of the total number of Shares. 
 
(a)  EG Irrevocable Undertaking 
 
 In connection with the Offer, Emet Grace has provided an irrevocable 

undertaking in favour of the Offeror (the “EG Irrevocable Undertaking”), 
pursuant to which it has undertaken and/or agreed, among other things, the 
following: 

 
(i)  to accept the Offer in respect of all the EG Undertaking Shares; and 
 
(ii)  to waive all its rights under Rule 30 of the Code to receive any cash 

settlement or payment for its acceptance of the Offer and the 
subsequent transfer of the EG Undertaking Shares to the Offeror (the 
“Waived Amount”), 

 
 (collectively, the “Rollover Arrangement”). 
 

The Securities Industry Council of Singapore has confirmed that the Rollover 
Arrangement does not constitute a prohibited special deal within the meaning 
of Rule 10 of the Code. 

 
(b)  AH Irrevocable Undertaking 
 
 In connection with the Offer, AHZM has provided an irrevocable undertaking in 

favour of the Offeror (the “AH Irrevocable Undertaking” and collectively with 
the EG Irrevocable Undertaking, the “Irrevocable Undertakings” and each, 
an “Irrevocable Undertaking”), pursuant to which she has undertaken and/or 
agreed, among other things, to accept the Offer in respect of all the AH 
Undertaking Shares. 
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Details of Emet Grace’s and AHZM’s shareholding in the Company which will be 
tendered in acceptance of the Offer by them pursuant to their respective Irrevocable 
Undertaking are as follows: 
 

Shareholder 

Number of Shares to 
be tendered in 

acceptance of the Offer 
Percentage of the total 

number of Shares(1) 

Emet Grace 176,240,539 80.05%(2) 

AHZM 4,291,300 1.95%(2) 

Total 180,531,839 82.00%(2) 

 
Notes:  
 
(1)  Based on the Company’s issued capital of 220,169,774 Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date.  
 
(2)  Percentages rounded to the nearest two (2) decimal places. 

 
5.2  Termination of the Irrevocable Undertakings 
 

Each Irrevocable Undertaking will terminate or lapse if the Offer is withdrawn or lapses, 
other than due to a breach by Emet Grace or AHZM (as the case may be) of any of its 
or her (as the case may be) obligations under the relevant Irrevocable Undertaking. 

 
5.3  No Other Irrevocable Undertakings 
 

Save for the Irrevocable Undertakings, as at the Latest Practicable Date, neither the 
Offeror nor any person acting in concert with the Offeror has received any irrevocable 
undertaking from any other party to accept or reject the Offer. 

 
5.4  As at the Latest Practicable Date, the number of Shares owned, controlled or agreed 

to be acquired by the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it, together with the 
total number of Shares to which the Irrevocable Undertakings relate, is an aggregate 
of 183,755,539 Shares, representing approximately 83.46% of the total number of 
Shares.” 
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“6.1  Low Trading Liquidity of Shares 
 

The trading volume of the Shares has been low, with an average daily trading volume(2) 
of approximately 6,050 Shares, 7,856 Shares, 6,867 Shares and 9,973 Shares during 
the respective one (1)-month period, three (3)-month period, six (6)-month period and 
twelve (12)-month period up to and including 4 May 2023 (the “Last Trading Day”), 
being the last full Market Day immediately prior to the Offer Announcement. Each of 
these represents less than 0.005% of the total number of Shares for any of the 
aforementioned relevant periods.  

 
The Offer and the Final Offer Price enhances the opportunity for Shareholders, who 
find it difficult to exit the Company as a result of the low trading volume in the Shares, 
to liquidate and realise their investment in the Shares at a premium to the prevailing 
market prices which may otherwise not be available given the low trading liquidity of 
the Shares. 

 
6.2  Final Offer Price at a Premium to the Last Transacted Share Price 
 

The Final Offer Price represents a premium of approximately 16.90% over the last 
transacted price per Share of S$0.710 on 4 May 2023, being the last Market Day on 
which the Shares were transacted prior to the Offer Announcement.  
 
When compared to the benchmark prices of the Shares up to and including the Last 
Trading Day, the Final Offer Price also represents a premium of approximately 18.07%, 
18.74%, 18.57% and 17.40% over the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) per 
Share for the one (1)-month, three (3)-month, six (6)-month and twelve (12)-month 
periods, respectively.  
 
The Offer and the Final Offer Price reinforces the clean cash exit opportunity for 
Shareholders, to realise their entire investment in the Shares at a premium over the 
prevailing trading prices of the Shares without incurring brokerage and other trading 
costs. 

 
6.3  Greater Management Flexibility 
 

As described in paragraph 8.3 below, the Offeror is making the Offer with a view to 
delisting the Company from the Mainboard of the SGX-ST and exercising any rights of 
compulsory acquisition that may arise under Section 215(1) of the Companies Act. The 
Offeror believes that privatising the Company will give the Offeror and the management 
of the Company more flexibility to manage the business of the Company, optimise the 
use of its management and capital resources and facilitate the implementation of any 
operational change. 

 
6.4  Compliance Costs of Maintaining Listing 
 

In maintaining its listed status, the Company incurs compliance and associated costs. 
In the event that the Company is delisted from the SGX-ST, the Company will be able 
to save on expenses relating to the maintenance of a listed status and focus its 
resources on its business operations.” 
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“8.1  Listing Status 
 

Pursuant to Rule 1105 of the Listing Manual, upon an announcement by the Offeror 
that acceptances have been received pursuant to the Offer that bring the holdings in 
Shares of the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it to above 90% of the total 
number of Shares (excluding any Shares held in treasury), the SGX-ST may suspend 
the trading of the Shares in the Ready and Unit Share markets until it is satisfied that 
at least 10% of the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares held in treasury) are 
held by at least 500 Shareholders who are members of the public. 
 
Rule 1303(1) of the Listing Manual provides that where the Offeror succeeds in 
garnering acceptances exceeding 90% of the total number of Shares (excluding any 
Shares held in treasury), thus causing the percentage of the total number of Shares 
(excluding any Shares held in treasury) held in public hands to fall below 10%, the 
SGX-ST will suspend trading of the Shares only at the close of the Offer. 
 
Under Rule 724(1) of the Listing Manual, if the percentage of the Shares held in public 
hands falls below 10%, the Company must, as soon as practicable, announce that fact, 
and the SGX-ST may suspend trading of all the Shares. Rule 724(2) of the Listing 
Manual states that the SGX-ST may allow the Company a period of three (3) months, 
or such longer period as the SGX-ST may agree, to raise the percentage of the Shares 
held in public hands to at least 10%, failing which the Company may be removed from 
the Official List of the SGX-ST. 

 
8.2  Compulsory Acquisition 
 

Pursuant to Section 215(1) of the Companies Act, in the event that the Offeror acquires 
not less than 90% of the total number of Shares (other than those already held by the 
Offeror, its related corporations or their respective nominees as at the date of the Offer 
and excluding any Shares held in treasury), the Offeror will be entitled to exercise the 
right to compulsorily acquire all the Shares from Shareholders who have not accepted 
the Offer at a price equal to the Final Offer Price per Share (the “Compulsory 
Acquisition”).  

 
In addition, pursuant to Section 215(3) of the Companies Act, if the Offeror acquires 
such number of Shares which, together with the Shares held by it, its related 
corporations and their respective nominees, comprise 90% or more of the total number 
of Shares, the Shareholders who have not accepted the Offer will have a right to require 
the Offeror to acquire their Shares at the Final Offer Price per Share. Such 
Shareholders who wish to exercise such a right are advised to seek their own 
independent legal advice. 

 
8.3  Offeror’s Intentions 

 
The Offeror intends to make the Company its wholly-owned subsidiary and does 
not intend to preserve the listing status of the Company. Accordingly, the Offeror, 
if and when entitled, intends to exercise its rights of Compulsory Acquisition and 
does not intend to take any step for the public float to be restored and/or for any 
trading suspension of the Shares by the SGX-ST to be lifted in the event that, 
inter alia, less than 10% of the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares held 
in treasury) are held in public hands.  
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In addition, the Offeror also reserves the right to seek a voluntary delisting of the 
Company from the SGX-ST pursuant to Rules 1307 and 1309 of the Listing Manual 
(collectively, the “Voluntary Delisting Rules”). Without prejudice to the foregoing, if 
the Offeror receives, as at the Closing Date, valid acceptances of the Offer from 
Shareholders (other than persons acting in concert with the Offeror) (the “Independent 
Shareholders”) representing at least 75% of the total number of Shares held by the 
Independent Shareholders and subject to substantive compliance with the other 
requirements set out in the Voluntary Delisting Rules, the Offeror intends to seek the 
SGX-ST’s waiver from strict compliance with such Voluntary Delisting Rules. 
 
In the event that the public float is lost and the Offeror is unable to exercise its right of 
Compulsory Acquisition or the Company is unable to meet the requirements set out in 
the Voluntary Delisting Rules, the trading of the Shares may be subjected to a 
prolonged period of suspension. 
 
Subject to normal business conditions and other than in the normal course of business, 
the Offeror does not intend to (a) make major changes to the business of the Company 
or its management team; (b) re-deploy the fixed assets of the Company; or (c) 
discontinue the employment of the employees of the Company and of its subsidiaries. 
Nonetheless, the Offeror retains the flexibility at any time to consider any options or 
opportunities which may present themselves and which the Offeror may regard to be 
in the interests of the Company.” 
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inter alia

inter alia

 

Source: Bloomberg L.P.. 
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Sources: Bloomberg L.P. and RHTC calculations. 



A-17

APPENDIX A: LETTER FROM THE IFA TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 
OF THE COMPANY IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER



A-18

APPENDIX A: LETTER FROM THE IFA TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 
OF THE COMPANY IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER

Sources:  The Group’s audited financial statements for FY2020, FY2021 and FY2022. 
 

FY2020 vs FY2021 
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FY2021 vs FY2022 
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Source: The Group’s audited financial statement for FY2022. 
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Property, plant and equipment  

inter alia

Inventories 
 

Trade receivables

Other receivables and deposits 
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Other payables and accruals 

Trade payables 
 

Term loans 

Contract liabilities 

 
 
Lease liabilities 
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NAV of the Group 

inter alia

Post Balance Sheet Adjustment 
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Sources:  The Group’s audited financial statements for FY2020, FY2021 and FY2022. 

FY2020 
 

 
 

FY2021 
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FY2022 
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Motor Launches 

inter alia

 
Tuas Property 
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Indonesia Shipyards, Seloko Land and Indonesia Apartments 

inter alia

 
Machinery and equipment  

inter alia
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Other investments 
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Sources: Bloomberg L.P.. 
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Source: Bloomberg L.P..  
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Sources: Bloomberg L.P., annual reports and announcements of the Comparable Companies and RHTC calculations. 
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Sources: Circulars and announcements of Privatisation Transactions and RHTC calculations. 
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Sources: Bloomberg L.P., annual reports of the Group and announcements of the Company. 

Sources: Bloomberg L.P. and SGXNet. 
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1. DIRECTORS 

 The names, addresses and descriptions of the Directors as at the Latest Practicable Date are as 
follows: 

Name Address Description 

Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir c/o 21 Tuas Road
Singapore 638489 

Executive Chairman

Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong c/o 21 Tuas Road
Singapore 638489 

Managing Director

Ms. Joanna Tung May Fong c/o 21 Tuas Road
Singapore 638489 

Finance and Administration 
Director

Mr. Winston Kwek Choon Lin c/o 21 Tuas Road
Singapore 638489 

Lead Independent and Non-
executive Director

Mr. Henry Tan Song Kok c/o 21 Tuas Road
Singapore 638489 

Independent and Non-executive 
Director

Mr. Leow Ban Tat c/o 21 Tuas Road
Singapore 638489 

Independent and Non-executive 
Director

Mr. Keith Tan Keng Soon c/o 21 Tuas Road
Singapore 638489 

Non-independent and Non-
executive Director

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

 The Company was incorporated in the Republic of Singapore on 23 January 1976 and was listed 
on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST on 17 October 1997. 

 The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is a designer, builder, owner and operator of high-
speed aluminium craft. The Group owns and operates a fl eet of crewboats, passenger ferries 
and workboats, and designs and builds a variety of high-speed craft at the Group’s shipyards in 
Singapore and Batam, Indonesia. These include fi re fi ghting search-and-rescue vessels, patrol 
boats, security vessels, offshore crewboats, windfarm crew transfer vessels and passenger ferries. 

3. SHARE CAPITAL

3.1 Issued Shares 

 The Company only has one (1) class of Shares, being ordinary shares. As at the Latest Practicable 
Date, the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company comprises S$95,885,990.0081 
consisting of 220,169,774 Shares. 

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, there has been no issue of new Shares by the Company since 
31 December 2022, such date being the end of the previous fi nancial year of the Company. The 
Shares carry equal ranking rights to dividends, voting at general meetings and return of capital. As 
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has no treasury shares. 

 The Shares are quoted and listed on the Main Board of the SGX-ST.

3.2 Convertible Securities

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has no outstanding instruments convertible into, 
rights to subscribe for and options or derivatives in respect of, the Shares or securities carrying 
voting rights in the Company. 
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3.3 Rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting rights

 The rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting rights are contained in 
the Constitution. For ease of reference, selected texts of the Constitution relating to the rights of 
Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting rights have been reproduced in Appendix 
C to this Circular.

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DEALINGS

4.1 Interests of the Company in Offeror Securities

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has any direct or 
indirect interests in the Offeror Securities. 

4.2 Dealings in Offeror Securities by the Company

 Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has dealt in the Offeror Securities during the period 
commencing six (6) months prior to the Offer Announcement Date and ending on the Latest 
Practicable Date. 

4.3 Interests of Directors in Offeror Securities

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, based on the information available to the Company and save 
as disclosed below, none of the Directors has any direct or deemed interest in any of the Offeror 
Securities: 

Direct Interest as at the 
Latest Practicable Date

Deemed Interest as at the 
Latest Practicable Date

Name No. of Offeror Securities % No. of Offeror Securities %(1)

Director 

Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir 5,500 55 – –

Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong 500 5 – –
 
 Note:

 (1) The percentage shareholding is based on 10,000 shares in the share capital of the Offeror. 

4.4 Dealings in Offeror Securities by Directors

 Save as disclosed in Section 6 of this Circular, none of the Directors has dealt for value in the 
Offeror Securities during the period commencing six (6) months prior to the Offer Announcement 
Date and ending on the Latest Practicable Date. 

4.5 Interests of Directors in Company Securities

 Save as disclosed below, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors has an interest, 
direct or indirect, in the Company Securities. 

Direct Interest as at the 
Latest Practicable Date

Deemed Interest as at the 
Latest Practicable Date

Name No. of Shares % No. of Shares %(1)

Director 

Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir – – 176,240,539 80.05
 
 Note:

 (1) The percentage shareholding is based on 220,169,774 Shares in the capital of the Company as at the Latest 
Practicable Date. 



B-3

APPENDIX B: GENERAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE COMPANY

4.6 Dealings in Company Securities by Directors

 Save as disclosed in this Circular in relation to dealings in Shares in connection with the Offer, 
none of the Directors has dealt in the Company Securities during the period commencing six (6) 
months prior to Offer Announcement Date and ending on the Latest Practicable Date. 

4.7 Interests of the IFA in Company Securities

 As at the Latest Practicable Date none of the IFA, its related corporations or funds whose 
investments are managed by the IFA or its related corporations on a discretionary basis, owns or 
controls any Company Securities. 

4.8 Dealings in Company Securities by the IFA

 None of the IFA, its related corporations or funds whose investments are managed by the IFA or its 
related corporations on a discretionary basis, has dealt for value in the Company Securities during 
the period commencing six (6) months prior to Offer Announcement Date and ending on the Latest 
Practicable Date. 

 
4.9 Directors’ intentions in respect of the Offer

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir holds 55% of the shares in the issued 
and paid-up share capital of Emet Grace, and is accordingly deemed interested in the 176,240,539 
Shares held by Emet Grace in the Company. Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong holds 5% of the 
shares in the issued and paid-up share capital of Emet Grace. In connection with the Offer, Emet 
Grace has provided an irrevocable undertaking in favour of the Offeror, pursuant to which it has 
undertaken to, inter alia, accept the Offer in respect of all the 176,240,539 Shares held by Emet 
Grace, representing approximately 80.05% of the total number of issued Shares.

 Save as disclosed above, none of the other Directors has any direct or deemed interest in the 
Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date. 

5. ARRANGEMENTS WITH DIRECTORS 

 5.1 Directors’ service contracts

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, there are no service contracts between any Director or proposed 
director with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which have more than 12 months to run and 
which cannot be terminated by the employing company within the next 12 months without paying 
any compensation. In addition, there are no such service contracts entered into or amended 
between any Director or proposed director with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the 
period commencing six (6) months prior to the Offer Announcement Date and ending on the Latest 
Practicable Date. 

5.2 Arrangements affecting Directors 

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed in this Circular: 

 (a) there are no payments or other benefi ts to be made or given to any Director or to any 
director of any other corporation which is, by virtue of Section 6 of the Companies Act, 
deemed to be related to the Company, as compensation for loss of offi ce or otherwise in 
connection with the Offer; 

 (b) there are no agreements or arrangements made between any Director and any other person 
in connection with or conditional upon the outcome of the Offer; and 

 (c) there are no material contracts entered into by the Offeror in which any of the Directors has 
a material personal interest, whether direct or indirect. 
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6. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

 Save as disclosed in publicly available information on the Company and in this Circular, neither 
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has entered into any material contracts with interested 
persons1 (other than those entered into in the ordinary course of business) during the period 
commencing three (3) years before the Offer Announcement Date and ending on the Latest 
Practicable Date. 

7. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

7.1 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

 Set out below is certain fi nancial information extracted from the annual reports of the Company for 
FY2020, FY2021 and FY2022. The fi nancial information for FY2020, FY2021 and FY2022 should 
be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the 
accompanying notes as set out in the annual reports of the Company for FY2020, FY2021 and 
FY2022.

Audited 
FY2022
S$’000

Audited 
FY2021
S$’000

Audited 
FY2020
S$’000

Revenue 135,227 132,649 119,417

Exceptional items  –  –  –

Net profi t before tax  14,628  14,912  15,364

Net profi t after tax  10,554  12,668  13,207

Non-controlling interests  (1)  (1)  (1)

Net earnings per share 

- Basic (S$ cents)  4.79  5.75  6.00

- Diluted (S$ cents)  4.79  5.75  6.00

 The following is a summary of the dividend per Share declared in respect of each of FY2020, 
FY2021 and FY2022. This information was extracted from the annual reports of the Company for 
FY2020, FY2021 and FY2022. 

Final exempt one-tier
dividend per Share (S$)

Interim exempt one-tier 
per Share (S$)

In respect of FY2022 0.0225 –

In respect of FY2021 0.0225 –

In respect of FY2020 – –

1 As defi ned in the Note to Rule 24.6 read with the Note on Rule 23.12 of the Code, an interested person is:

 (a) a director, chief executive offi cer, or substantial shareholder of the Company;

 (b) the immediate family of a director, the chief executive offi cer, or a substantial shareholder (being an individual) of the 
Company;

 (c) the trustees, acting in their capacity as such trustees, of any trust of which a director, the chief executive offi cer or a 
substantial shareholder (being an individual) and his immediate family is a benefi ciary;

 (d) any company in which a director, the chief executive offi cer or a substantial shareholder (being an individual) together 
and his immediate family together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more;

 (e) any company that is the subsidiary, holding company or fellow subsidiary of the substantial shareholder (being a 
company); or

 (f) any company in which a substantial shareholder (being a company) and any of the companies listed in (e) above 
together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more.
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7.2 Consolidated balance sheet

 The audited consolidated balance sheet of the Group for FY2022 is set out below. The summary 
set out below should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated fi nancial statements of 
the Group and the accompanying notes as set out in the annual report of the Company for FY2022. 

Audited
FY2022
S$’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 153,447
Right-of-use assets 7,459
Investment in subsidiaries –
Loan to a subsidiary –
Other investments 9,957
Intangible asset 78
Trade receivables 13,814
Other receivables 3,669

188,424

Current assets 
Inventories 68,588
Trade receivables 21,189
Other receivables and deposits 19,492
Contract assets 4,543
Prepayments 754
Derivatives 487
Loans to subsidiaries –
Fixed deposits 2,453
Cash and bank balances 12,525

130,031
 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade payables 31,664
Other payables and accruals 37,441
Provisions 701
Contract liabilities 9,388
Derivatives 49
Provision for income tax 2,441
Lease liabilities 680
Term loans 7,994
Deposits from subsidiaries –

90,358
Net current assets 39,673

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 4,841
Provisions 2,244
Lease liabilities 7,009
Term loans 15,900

29,994
Net Assets 198,103

EQUITY 
Share capital 94,943
Retained earnings 110,458
Other reserves (7,292)
Non-controlling interests (6)
Total equity 198,103

 Copies of the annual reports of the Company for FY2020, FY2021 and FY2022 are available for 
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inspection at the Company’s registered offi ce at 21 Tuas Road, Singapore 638489 during normal 
business hours from the date of this Circular up to the Closing Date.

7.3 Material changes in fi nancial position 

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed in any information on the Group which is 
publicly available (including without limitation, the announcements released by the Group on the 
SGX-ST), there have been no material changes to the fi nancial position of the Group since 31 
December 2022, being the date of the last audited accounts of the Group laid before Shareholders 
in general meeting. 

7.4 Signifi cant accounting policies 

 The signifi cant accounting policies of the Group are disclosed in note 2 to the audited consolidated 
fi nancial statements of the Group for FY2022 as set out in the annual report of the Company for 
FY2022 on pages 72 to 89 therein, and are reproduced in Appendix D of this Circular.

7.5 Changes in signifi cant accounting policies

  As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as publicly disclosed, there has been no change in the 
accounting policies of the Group which will cause the fi gures disclosed in this Circular not to be 
comparable to a material extent.

8. MATERIAL LITIGATION

 As at the Latest Practicable Date:

 (a) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is engaged in any material litigation or 
arbitration proceedings, as plaintiff or defendant, which might materially affect the fi nancial 
position of the Group taken as a whole; and 

 (b) the Directors are not aware of any proceedings pending or threatened against the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries or of any facts likely to give rise to any proceedings which might 
materially affect the fi nancial position of the Group taken as a whole. 

9. VALUATION OF ASSETS 

9.1 The Company had commissioned independent valuations of the following assets held by the 
Group: 

 (a)  motor launches and construction in progress shell electric ferries (“Fleet”);

 (b) a leasehold property located at 21 Tuas Road, Singapore 638489 (the “Tuas Property”);

 (c) shipyards located in Kawasan Industri Sekupang, Kelurahan Tanjung Riau, Kecamatan 
Sekupang, Kota Batam, Provinsi Kepulauan Riau, Kode Pos: 29425 (the “Indonesia 
Shipyards”);

 
 (d) a land parcel located at Pulau Seloko - Tanjung Uncang, Kelurahan Tanjung Riau, 

Kecamatan Sekupang, Kota Batam, Provinsi Kepulauan Riau, Kode Pos: 29425 (the “Seloko 
Land”);

 (e) 6 unit ap artment  located in Jalan Duyung Apartement Bayerina Kelurahan Sungai Jodoh, 
Kecamatan Batu Ampar, Kota Batam, Provinsi Kepulauan Riau, Kode Pos 29453 (the 
“Indonesia Apartment ”); and

 
 (f) Machinery and Equipment,

 (collectively, the “Appraised Assets”).
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 The Company notes that the valuations of the Appraised Assets have been carried out on the 
following bases: 

 (i) in respect of the  Fleet, on a current fair value basis using the replacement cost method;

 (ii)  in respect of the Tuas Property, on a market value (“as-is”) and gross development value 
(completed) basis using the direct comparison and investment method;  

 (iii)  in respect of the Indonesia Shipyards, on a market value basis using the cost approach with 
the replacement cost method; 

 (iv)  in respect of the Seloko Land, on a market value basis using the market approach with the 
market data comparison method;

 (v)  in respect of the Indonesia Apartment, on a market value basis using the market approach 
with the market data comparison method; and 

 (vi )  in respect of the Machinery and Equipment, on a market value basis using the market 
approach with the market data comparison method and cost approach with the replacement 
cost method. 

 The summaries  of the Valuation Reports prepared by the Independent Valuers are set out as the 
Summary Valuation Reports  in Appendix E to this Circular. 

9.2 Under Rule 26.3 of the Code, the Company is required, inter alia, to make an assessment of any 
potential tax liability which would arise if the assets, which are the subject of a valuation given in 
connection with an offer, were to be sold at the amount of the valuation. 

 The potential tax liabilities which may be incurred by the Group on such hypothetical disposal 
of the Appraised Assets based on the valuations carried out by the Independent Valuers is 
approximately S$4,43 7,000. The aforesaid tax liabilities are not likely to crystalise as the Group has 
no intention to sell the Appraised Assets as of the Latest Practicable Date. 

10. COSTS AND EXPENSES

 All costs and expenses incurred by the Company in respect of the Offer will be borne by the 
Company.
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The rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting rights are contained in the 
Constitution, the relevant provisions of which are set out below:

Please see the defi nitions in the Constitution for terms used in the reproduced extracts below.

1. The rights of Shareholders in respect of capital

ISSUE OF SHARES

3.  Subject to the Act and this Constitution, no shares may be issued by the Directors without the prior 
approval of the Company in General Meeting but subject thereto and to Regulation 8, and to any 
special rights attached to any shares for the time being issued, the Directors may allot and issue 
shares or grant options over or otherwise dispose of the same to such persons on such terms and 
conditions and for such consideration (if any) and at such time and subject or not to the payment of 
any part of the amount (if any) thereof in cash as the Directors may think fi t, and any shares may 
be issued with such preferential, deferred, qualifi ed or special rights, privileges or conditions, as 
the Directors may think fi t, and preference shares may be issued which are or at the option of the 
Company are liable to be redeemed, the terms and manner of redemption being determined by the 
Directors, Provided always that:

 (a)   no shares shall be issued to transfer a controlling interest in the Company without the prior 
approval of the members in a General Meeting;

 (b)  (subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the Company in a General 
Meeting) any issue of shares for cash to Members holding shares of any class shall be 
offered to such Members in proportion as nearly as may be to the number of shares of such 
class then held by them and the provisions of the second sentence of Regulation 8(A) with 
such adaptations as are necessary shall apply;

 (c)  any other issue of shares, the aggregate of which would exceed the limits referred to in 
Regulation 8(B), shall be subject to the approval of the Company in a General Meeting; and

 (d) the rights attaching to shares of a class other than ordinary shares shall be expressed in the 
resolution creating the same.

4. (A)  Without prejudice to any special rights previously conferred on the holders of any existing 
shares or class of shares, any share in the Company may be issued with such preferred, 
deferred or other special rights or such restrictions, whether with regard to dividend, voting, 
return of capital or otherwise as the Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution 
determine; PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT the total number of issued preference shares shall 
not at any time exceed the total number of issued ordinary shares of the Company.

  Subject (but not limited) to the Act, any preference shares may be issued on the terms that 
they are, or at the option of the Company are liable, to be redeemed. The Company shall 
also have the power to issue further preference shares ranking equally with or in priority to 
any preference shares already issued.

  Holders of preference shares shall have the same rights as ordinary shareholders as 
regards receiving of notices, reports and balance sheets, and attending General Meetings of 
the Company. They shall have the right to vote at any meeting convened for the purposes of 
reducing the capital or winding up or sanctioning a sale of the undertaking of the Company, 
or where the proposition to be submitted to the meeting directly affects their rights and 
privileges, or when the dividends on the preference shares are in arrears for more than six 
months.

 (B)  The Company may issue shares for which no consideration is payable to the Company.
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TREASURY SHARES

5. The Company shall not exercise any right in respect of treasury shares other than as provided by 
the Act. The rights in relation to treasury shares are to be suspended except for the purposes of 
bonus shares, share splits and consolidations. Subject thereto, the Company may hold or deal with 
its treasury shares in the manner authorised by or prescribed pursuant to the Act.

 VARIATION OF RIGHTS

6. (A)  Whenever the share capital of the Company is divided into different classes of shares, 
the special rights attached to any class subject to the provisions of the Act, preference 
capital, other than redeemable preference capital, may be repaid and may, subject to the 
provisions of the Statutes, be varied or abrogated either with the consent in writing of the 
holders of three- quarters of the total voting rights of the issued shares of the class or with 
the sanction of a Special Resolution passed at a separate General Meeting of the holders of 
the shares of the class (but not otherwise) and may be so varied or abrogated either whilst 
the Company is a going concern or during or in contemplation of a winding-up. To every such 
separate General Meeting, all the provisions of this Constitution relating to General Meetings 
of the Company and to the proceedings thereat shall mutatis mutandis apply, except that the 
necessary quorum shall be two persons at least holding or representing by proxy at least 
one-third of the total voting rights of the issued shares of the class and that any holder of 
shares of the class present in person or by proxy may demand a poll and that every such 
holder shall on a poll have one vote for every share of the class held by him, Provided 
always that where the necessary majority for such a Special Resolution is not obtained at 
such General Meeting, consent in writing if obtained from the holders of three-quarters of 
the total voting rights of the issued shares of the class concerned within two months of such 
General Meeting shall be as valid and effectual as a Special Resolution carried at such 
General Meeting. The foregoing provisions of this Regulation shall apply to the variation or 
abrogation of the special rights attached to some only of the shares of any class as if each 
group of shares of the class differently treated formed a separate class the special rights 
whereof are to be varied.

 (B) The special rights attached to any class of shares having preferential rights shall not, unless 
otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue thereof, be deemed to be varied by the 
creation or issue of further shares ranking as regards participation in the profi ts or assets 
of the Company in some or all respects pari passu therewith but in no respect in priority 
thereto.

ALTERATION OF SHARE CAPITAL

7.  The Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution increase its capital by the allotment 
and issue of new shares.

8. (A)  Subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the Company in a General 
Meeting or except as permitted under the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited or such other stock exchange on which the Company’s shares are listed, all 
new shares shall, before issue, be offered to such persons who as at the date of the offer 
are entitled to receive notices from the Company of General Meetings in proportion, as far 
as the circumstances admit, to the number of the existing shares to which they are entitled. 
The offer shall be made by notice specifying the number of shares offered, and limiting a 
time within which the offer, if not accepted, will be deemed to be declined, and, after the 
expiration of that time, or on the receipt of an intimation from the person to whom the offer 
is made that he declines to accept the shares offered, the Directors may dispose of those 
shares in such manner as they think most benefi cial to the Company. The Directors may 
likewise so dispose of any new shares which (by reason of the ratio which the new shares 
bear to shares held by persons entitled to an offer of new shares) cannot, in the opinion of 
the Directors, be conveniently offered under this Regulation 8(A).
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 (B) Notwithstanding Regulation 8(A) above, the Company may by Ordinary Resolution in 
General Meeting give to the Directors a general authority, either unconditionally or subject to 
such conditions as may be specifi ed in the Ordinary Resolution, to:

  (a) issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of rights, bonus or 
otherwise; and/or 

  (b) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments’) that might or 
would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue 
of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible 
into shares; and 

  (c) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution may have ceased 
to be in force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the 
Directors while the Ordinary Resolution was in force, provided that: 

   (1) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Ordinary 
Resolution (including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made 
or granted pursuant to the Ordinary Resolution) shall be subject to such limits 
and manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited; 

   (2) in exercising the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution, the Company 
shall comply with the provisions of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the time being in force or such other 
stock exchange on which the Company’s shares are listed (unless such 
compliance is waived by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited or 
such other stock exchange) and this Constitution; and 

   (3) (unless previously revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting), 
the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution shall not continue in force 
beyond the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company next 
following the passing of the Ordinary Resolution or the date by which such 
Annual General Meeting is required by law to be held, or the expiration of such 
other period as may be prescribed by the Act (whichever is the earliest). 

 (C) Except so far as otherwise provided by the conditions of issue or by this Constitution, all new 
shares shall be subject to the provisions of the Act and this Constitution with reference to 
allotments, payment of calls, lien, transfer, transmission, forfeiture and otherwise.

9. The Company may by Ordinary Resolution:

 (a) consolidate and divide all or any of its shares;

 (b) cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have been forfeited 
and diminish the amount of its capital by the number of shares so cancelled;

 (c) sub-divide its shares, or any of them (subject, nevertheless, to the provisions of the Statutes 
and the bye-laws or listing rules of any relevant Stock Exchange upon which shares in 
the Company are listed), and so that the resolution whereby any share is subdivided may 
determine that, as between the holders of the shares resulting from such sub-division, one 
or more of the shares may, as compared with the others, have any such preferred, deferred 
or other special rights, or be subject to any such restrictions, as the Company has power to 
attach to new shares; or

 (d) subject to the provisions of this Constitution and the Act, convert any class of shares into 
any other class of shares.
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10. (A) The Company may, subject to and in accordance with the Act, purchase or otherwise acquire 
its issued shares on such terms and in such manner as the Company may from time to time 
think fi t. Any share which is so purchased or acquired by the Company shall, unless held in 
treasury in accordance with the Act, be deemed to be cancelled immediately on purchase 
or acquisition by the Company. On the cancellation of any share as aforesaid, the rights and 
privileges attached to that share shall expire. In any other instance, the Company may hold 
or deal with any such share which is so purchased or acquired by it in such manner as may 
be permitted by, and in accordance with, the Act (including without limitation to hold such 
shares as a treasury share).

 (B) The Company may reduce its share capital or any undistributable reserve in any manner and 
with and subject to any incident authorised and consent required by law. Without prejudice 
to the generality of the foregoing, upon cancellation of any share purchased or otherwise 
acquired by the Company pursuant to this Constitution and the Act, the number of issued 
shares of the Company shall be diminished by the number of the shares so cancelled, 
and where any such cancelled share was purchased or acquired out of the capital of the 
Company, the amount of the share capital of the Company shall be reduced accordingly.

SHARES

11. Except as required by law, no person shall be recognised by the Company as holding any share 
upon any trust, and the Company shall not be bound by or compelled in any way to recognise any 
equitable, contingent, future or partial interest in any share, or any interest in any fractional part 
of a share, or (except only as by this Constitution or by law otherwise provided) any other right in 
respect of any share, except an absolute right to the entirety thereof in the person (other than the 
Depository) entered in the Register of Members as the registered holder thereof or (as the case 
may be) person whose name is entered in the Depository Register in respect of that share.

12. Without prejudice to any special rights previously conferred on the holders of any shares or class 
of shares for the time being issued, any share in the Company may be issued with such preferred, 
deferred or other special rights, or subject to such restrictions, whether as regards dividend, return 
of capital, voting or otherwise, as the Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution 
determine (or, in the absence of any such determination, as the Directors may determine) and 
subject to the provisions of the Statutes, the Company may issue preference shares which are, or 
at the option of the Company are liable, to be redeemed.

13. Subject to the provisions of this Constitution and of the Act relating to authority, pre-emption 
rights and otherwise and of any resolution of the Company in a General Meeting passed pursuant 
thereto, all new shares shall be at the disposal of the Directors and they may allot (with or without 
conferring a right of renunciation), grant options over or otherwise dispose of them to such 
persons, at such times and on such terms as they think proper.

14. The Company may pay commissions or brokerage on any issue of shares at such rate or amount 
and in such manner as the Directors may deem fi t. Such commissions or brokerage may be 
satisfi ed by the payment of cash or the allotment of fully or partly paid shares or partly in one way 
and partly in the other.

15. Subject to the terms and conditions of any application for shares, the Directors shall allot shares 
applied for within ten market days of the closing date (or such other period as may be approved by 
any Stock Exchange upon which the shares in the Company may be listed) of any such application. 
The term “market day” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Regulation 19.

16. The Directors may, at any time after the allotment of any share but before any person has been 
entered in the Register of Members as the holder or (as the case may be) before that share is 
entered against the name of a Depositor in the Depository Register, recognise a renunciation 
thereof by the allottee in favour of some other person and may accord to any allottee of a share 
a right to effect such renunciation upon and subject to such terms and conditions as the Directors 
may think fi t to impose.
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SHARE CERTIFICATES

17. Every share certifi cate shall be issued under the Seal and shall specify the number and class of 
shares to which it relates, whether the shares are fully or partly paid up, and the amount (if any) 
unpaid thereon. No certifi cate shall be issued representing shares of more than one class.

18. (A)  The Company shall not be bound to register more than three persons as the registered joint 
holders of a share except in the case of executors, trustees or administrators of the estate of 
a deceased member.

 (B) In the case of a share registered jointly in the names of several persons, the Company shall 
not be bound to issue more than one certifi cate therefor and delivery of a certifi cate to any 
one of the registered joint holders shall be suffi cient delivery to all.

19. Every person whose name is entered as a member in the Register of Members shall be entitled 
to receive within ten market days of the closing date of any application for shares (or such other 
period as may be approved by any Stock Exchange upon which the shares of the Company may 
be listed) or within fi fteen market days after the date of lodgement of a registrable transfer (or such 
other period as may be approved by any Stock Exchange upon which the shares of the Company 
may be listed) one certifi cate for all his shares of any one class or several certifi cates in reasonable 
denominations each for a part of the shares so allotted or transferred. Where such a member 
transfers part only of the shares comprised in a certifi cate or where such a member requires the 
Company to cancel any certifi cate or certifi cates and issue new certifi cate(s) for the purpose of 
subdividing his holding in a different manner, the old certifi cate or certifi cates shall be cancelled 
and a new certifi cate or certifi cates for the balance of such shares issued in lieu thereof and such 
member shall pay a maximum fee of S$2 for each new certifi cate or such other fee as the Directors 
may from time to time determine having regard to any limitation thereof as may be prescribed by 
any Stock Exchange upon which the shares in the Company may be listed. For the purpose of 
this Regulations 19, the term “market day” shall mean a day on which the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited is open for trading in securities.

20. (A)  Any two or more certifi cates representing shares of any one class held by any person whose 
name is entered in the Register of Members may at his request be cancelled and a single 
new certifi cate for such shares issued in lieu without charge.

 (B)  If any person whose name is entered in the Register of Members shall surrender for 
cancellation a share certifi cate representing shares held by him and request the Company 
to issue in lieu two or more share certifi cates representing such shares in such proportions 
as he may specify, the Directors may, if they think fi t, comply with such request. Such person 
shall (unless such fee is waived by the Directors) pay a maximum fee of $2 for each share 
certifi cate issued in lieu of a share certifi cate surrendered for cancellation or such other fee 
as the Directors may from time to time determine having regard to any limitation thereof as 
may be prescribed by any Stock Exchange upon which the shares in the Company may be 
listed.

 (C) In the case of shares registered jointly in the names of several persons, any such request 
may be made by any one of the registered joint holders.

21. Subject to the provisions of the Act, if any share certifi cate shall be defaced, worn out, destroyed, 
lost or stolen, it may be renewed on such evidence being produced and a letter of indemnity (if 
required) being given by the shareholder, transferee, person entitled, purchaser, member fi rm or 
member company of any Stock Exchange upon which the Company is listed or on behalf of its or 
their client or clients as the Directors of the Company shall require, and (in case of defacement 
or wearing out) on delivery up of the old certifi cate and in any case on payment of such sum not 
exceeding S$1 as the Directors may from time to time require. In the case of destruction, loss or 
theft, a shareholder or person entitled to whom such renewed certifi cate is given shall also bear 
the loss and pay to the Company all expenses incidental to the investigations by the Company of 
the evidence of such destruction or loss.
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CALLS ON SHARES

22. The Directors may from time to time make calls upon the members in respect of any moneys 
unpaid on their shares but subject always to the terms of issue of such shares. A call shall be 
deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the Directors authorising the call 
was passed and may be made payable by installments.

23.  Each member shall (subject to receiving at least fourteen days’ notice specifying the time or times 
and place of payment) pay to the Company at the time or times and place so specifi ed the amount 
called on his shares. The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls 
in respect thereof. A call may be revoked or postponed as the Directors may determine.

24. If a sum called in respect of a share is not paid before or on the day appointed for payment thereof, 
the person from whom the sum is due shall pay interest on the sum from the day appointed for 
payment thereof to the time of actual payment at such rate (not exceeding ten per cent. per annum) 
as the Directors determine but the Directors shall be at liberty in any case or cases to waive 
payment of such interest wholly or in part.

25. Any sum which by the terms of issue of a share becomes payable upon allotment or at any fi xed 
date shall for all the purposes of this Constitution be deemed to be a call duly made and payable 
on the date on which by the terms of issue the same becomes payable. In case of non-payment, 
all the relevant provisions of this Constitution as to payment of interest and expenses, forfeiture 
or otherwise shall apply as if such sum had become payable by virtue of a call duly made and 
notifi ed.

26. The Directors may on the issue of shares differentiate between the holders as to the amount of 
calls to be paid and the times of payment.

27. The Directors may, if they think fi t, receive from any member willing to advance the same all or 
any part of the moneys uncalled and unpaid upon the shares held by him and such payment in 
advance of calls shall extinguish pro tanto the liability upon the shares in respect of which it is 
made and upon the moneys so received (until and to the extent that the same would but for such 
advance become payable) the Company may pay interest at such rate (not exceeding eight per 
cent. per annum) as the member paying such sum and the Directors may agree. Capital paid on 
shares in advance of calls shall not, while carrying interest, confer a right to participate in profi ts.

FORFEITURE AND LIEN

28. If a member fails to pay in full any call or instalment of a call on the due date for payment thereof, 
the Directors may at any time thereafter serve a notice on him requiring payment of so much of the 
call or instalment as is unpaid together with any interest which may have accrued thereon and any 
expenses incurred by the Company by reason of such non-payment.

29. The notice shall name a further day (not being less than fourteen days from the date of service 
of the notice) on or before which and the place where the payment required by the notice is to be 
made, and shall state that in the event of non-payment in accordance therewith, the shares on 
which the call has been made will be liable to be forfeited.

30. If the requirements of any such notice as aforesaid are not complied with, any share in respect 
of which such notice has been given may at any time thereafter, before payment of all calls and 
interest and expenses due in respect thereof has been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the 
Directors to that effect. Such forfeiture shall include all dividends declared in respect of the forfeited 
share and not actually paid before forfeiture. The Directors may accept a surrender of any share 
liable to be forfeited hereunder.
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31. A share so forfeited or surrendered shall become the property of the Company and may be 
sold, re-allotted or otherwise disposed of either to the person who was before such forfeiture or 
surrender the holder thereof or entitled thereto or to any other person upon such terms and in such 
manner as the Directors shall think fi t and at any time before a sale, re-allotment or disposition, the 
forfeiture or surrender may be cancelled on such terms as the Directors think fi t. The Directors may, 
if necessary, authorise some person to transfer or effect the transfer of a forfeited or surrendered 
share to any such other person as aforesaid.

32. A member whose shares have been forfeited or surrendered shall cease to be a member in 
respect of the shares but shall notwithstanding the forfeiture or surrender remain liable to pay to 
the Company all moneys which at the date of forfeiture or surrender were presently payable by him 
to the Company in respect of the shares with interest thereon at eight per cent. per annum (or such 
lower rate as the Directors may determine) from the date of forfeiture or surrender until payment 
and the Directors may at their absolute discretion enforce payment without any allowance for the 
value of the shares at that time of forfeiture or surrender or waive payment in whole or in part.

33. The Company shall have a fi rst and paramount lien on every share (not being a fully paid share) 
and on dividends declared or payable in respect thereof. Such lien shall be restricted to unpaid 
calls and installments upon the specifi c shares in respect of which such moneys are due and 
unpaid and for all moneys as the Company may be called upon by law to pay in respect of the 
shares of the member or deceased member. The Directors may waive any lien which has arisen 
and may resolve that any share shall for some limited period be exempt wholly or partially from the 
provisions of this Regulation.

34. The Company may sell in such manner as the Directors think fi t any share on which the Company 
has a lien, but no sale shall be made unless some sum in respect of which the lien exists is 
presently payable nor until the expiration of fourteen days after a notice in writing stating and 
demanding payment of the sum presently payable and giving notice of intention to sell in default 
shall have been given to the holder for the time being of a share or the person entitled thereto by 
reason of his death or bankruptcy.

35. The residue of the proceeds of such sale pursuant to Regulation 34 after the satisfaction of the 
unpaid calls and accrued interest and expenses of such sale shall be paid to the person entitled to 
the shares at the time of the sale or to his executors, administrators or assigns, as he may direct. 
For the purpose of giving effect to any such sale, the Directors may authorise some person to 
transfer or effect the transfer of the shares sold to the purchaser.

36. A statutory declaration in writing that the declarant is a Director or the Secretary of the Company 
and that a share has been duly forfeited or surrendered or sold or disposed to satisfy a lien of 
the Company on a date stated in the declaration shall be conclusive evidence of the facts therein 
stated as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share. Such declaration and the 
receipt of the Company for the consideration (if any) given for the share on the sale, re-allotment 
or disposal thereof together (where the same be required) with the share certifi cate delivered to 
a purchaser (or where the purchaser is a Depositor, to the Depository) or allottee thereof shall 
(subject to the execution of a transfer if the same is required) constitute a good title to the share 
and the share shall be registered in the name of the person to whom the share is sold, re-allotted 
or disposed of or, where such person is a Depositor, the Company shall procure that his name be 
entered in the Depository Register in respect of the share so sold, re-allotted or disposed of. Such 
person shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money (if any) nor shall his title 
to the share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the forfeiture, 
surrender, sale, re-allotment or disposal of the share.
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TRANSFER OF SHARES

37. Subject to the provisions of this Constitution, all transfers of the legal title in shares may be effected 
by the registered holders thereof by transfer in writing in the form for the time being approved 
by any Stock Exchange upon which the Company may be listed or any other form acceptable to 
the Directors. The instrument of transfer of any share shall be signed by or on behalf of both the 
transferor and the transferee and be witnessed Provided that an instrument of transfer in respect of 
which the transferee is the Depository shall be effective although not signed or witnessed by or on 
behalf of the Depository. The transferor shall remain the holder of the shares concerned until the 
name of the transferee is entered in the Register of Members in respect thereof.

38. The Register of Members may be closed at such times and for such period as the Directors may 
from time to time determine Provided always that such Register shall not be closed for more than 
thirty days in any year Provided always that the Company shall give prior notice of such closure as 
may be required to any Stock Exchange upon which the Company may be listed, stating the period 
and purpose or purposes for which the closure is made.

39. (A)  There shall be no restriction on the transfer of fully paid up shares (except where required 
by law, the listing rules of any Stock Exchange upon which the shares of the Company may 
be listed or the rules and/or bye-laws governing any Stock Exchange upon which the shares 
of the Company may be listed) but the Directors may in their discretion decline to register 
any transfer of shares upon which the Company has a lien and in the case of shares not 
fully paid-up, may refuse to register a transfer to a transferee of whom they do not approve 
Provided always that in the event of the Directors refusing to register a transfer of shares, 
they shall within one month beginning with the day on which the application for a transfer 
of shares was made, serve a notice in writing to the applicant stating the facts which are 
considered to justify the refusal as required by the Statutes.

 (B)  The Directors may in their sole discretion refuse to register any instrument of transfer of 
shares unless:

  (i) such fee not exceeding S$2 as the Directors may from time to time require pursuant to 
Regulation 42, is paid to the Company in respect thereof;

  (ii) the amount of proper duty (if any) with which each instrument of transfer is chargeable 
under any law for the time being in force relating to stamps is paid;

  (iii) the instrument of transfer is deposited at the Offi ce or at such other place (if any) 
as the Directors may appoint accompanied by a certifi cate of payment of stamp duty 
(if any), the certifi cates of the shares to which the transfer relates, and such other 
evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to 
make the transfer and, if the instrument of transfer is executed by some other person 
on his behalf, the authority of the person so to do; and

  (iv) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of shares.

40. If the Directors refuse to register a transfer of any shares, they shall within one month after the 
date on which the transfer was lodged with the Company send to the transferor and the transferee 
notice of the refusal as required by the Statutes.

41. All instruments of transfer which are registered may be retained by the Company.

42. There shall be paid to the Company in respect of the registration of any instrument of transfer or 
probate or letters of administration or certifi cate of marriage or death or stop notice or power of 
attorney or other document relating to or affecting the title to any shares or otherwise for making 
any entry in the Register of Members affecting the title to any shares such fee not exceeding S$2 
as the Directors may from time to time require or prescribe.
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43. The Company shall be entitled to destroy all instruments of transfer which have been registered 
at any time after the expiration of six years from the date of registration thereof and all dividend 
mandates and notifi cations of change of address at any time after the expiration of six years from 
the date of recording thereof and all share certifi cates which have been cancelled at any time after 
the expiration of six years from the date of the cancellation thereof and it shall conclusively be 
presumed in favour of the Company that every entry in the Register of Members purporting to 
have been made on the basis of an instrument of transfer or other document so destroyed was 
duly and properly made and every instrument of transfer so destroyed was a valid and effective 
instrument duly and properly registered and every share certifi cate duly and properly cancelled and 
every other document hereinbefore mentioned so destroyed was a valid and effective document in 
accordance with the recorded particulars thereof in the books or records of the Company; Provided 
always that:

 (a) the provisions aforesaid shall apply only to the destruction of a document in good faith and 
without notice of any claim (regardless of the parties thereto) to which the document might 
be relevant;

 (b) nothing herein contained shall be construed as imposing upon the Company any liability in 
respect of the destruction of any such document earlier than as aforesaid or in any other 
circumstances which would not attach to the Company in the absence of this Regulation; 
and

 (c) references herein to the destruction of any document include references to the disposal 
thereof in any manner.

TRANSMISSION OF SHARES

44. (A)  In the case of the death of a member whose name is entered in the Register of Members, 
the survivors or survivor where the deceased was a joint holder, and the executors or 
administrators of the deceased where he was a sole or only surviving holder, shall be the 
only person(s) recognised by the Company as having any title to his interest in the shares. 

 (B) In the case of the death of a member who is a Depositor, the survivor or survivors where the 
deceased is a joint holder, and the executors or administrators of the deceased where he 
was a sole or only surviving holder and where such executors or administrators are entered 
in the Depository Register in respect of any shares of the deceased member, shall be the 
only person(s) recognised by the Company as having any title to his interest in the shares.

 (C)  Nothing in this Regulation shall release the estate of a deceased holder (whether sole or 
joint) from any liability in respect of any share held by him.

45. Any person becoming entitled to the legal title in a share in consequence of the death or 
bankruptcy of a member whose name is entered in the Register of Members may (subject 
as hereinafter provided) upon supplying to the Company such evidence as the Directors may 
reasonably require to show his legal title to the share either be registered himself as holder of 
the share upon giving to the Company notice in writing of such desire or transfer such share to 
some other person. All the limitations, restrictions and provisions of this Constitution relating to the 
right to transfer and the registration of transfers of shares shall be applicable to any such notice or 
transfer as aforesaid as if the death or bankruptcy of the member whose name is entered in the 
Register of Members had not occurred and the notice or transfer were a transfer executed by such 
member.
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46. Save as otherwise provided by or in accordance with this Constitution, a person becoming entitled 
to a share pursuant to Regulation 44(A) or (B) or Regulation 45 (upon supplying to the Company 
such evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show his title to the share) shall be 
entitled to the same dividends and other advantages as those to which he would be entitled if 
he were the member in respect of the share except that he shall not be entitled in respect 
thereof (except with the authority of the Directors) to exercise any right conferred by membership 
in relation to meetings of the Company until he shall have been registered as a member in the 
Register of Members or his name shall have been entered in the Depository Register in respect of 
the share.

CONVERSION OF SHARES INTO STOCK

47. The Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution convert any paid-up shares into stock 
and may from time to time by like resolution reconvert any stock into paid-up shares.

48. The holders of stock may transfer the same or any part thereof in the same manner and subject to 
the same Regulations and subject to which the shares from which the stock arose might previously 
to conversion have been transferred (or as near thereto as circumstances admit) but no stock shall 
be transferable except in such units as the Directors may from time to time determine.

49. The holders of stock shall, according to the number of stock units held by them, have the same 
rights, privileges and advantages as regards dividend, return of capital, voting and other matters, 
as if they held the shares from which the stock arose, but no such privilege or advantage (except 
as regards participation in the profi ts or assets of the Company) shall be conferred by the number 
of stock units which would not, if existing in shares, have conferred such privilege or advantage; 
and no such conversion shall affect or prejudice any preference or other special privileges attached 
to the shares so converted.

2. The rights of Shareholders in respect of voting 

GENERAL MEETINGS

50. An Annual General Meeting shall be held once in every year, at such time (within a period of not 
more than fi fteen months after the holding of the last preceding Annual General Meeting) and place 
as may be determined by the Directors. All other General Meetings shall be called Extraordinary 
General Meetings.

51. The Directors may whenever they think fi t, and shall on requisition in accordance with the Statutes, 
proceed with proper expedition to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting.

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

52. Any General Meeting at which it is proposed to pass a Special Resolution or (save as provided 
by the Statutes) a resolution of which special notice has been given to the Company, shall be 
called by twenty-one days’ notice in writing at the least and an Annual General Meeting and any 
other Extraordinary General Meeting by fourteen days’ notice in writing at the least. The period 
of notice shall in each case be exclusive of the day on which it is served or deemed to be served 
and of the day on which the meeting is to be held and shall be given in the manner hereinafter 
mentioned to all members other than such as are not under the provisions of this Constitution 
and the Act entitled to receive such notices from the Company; Provided that a General Meeting 
notwithstanding that it has been called by a shorter notice than that specifi ed above shall be 
deemed to have been duly called if it is so agreed:

 (a) in the case of an Annual General Meeting, by all the members entitled to attend and vote 
thereat; and
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 (b) in the case of an Extraordinary General Meeting, by a majority in number of the members 
having a right to attend and vote thereat, being a majority together holding not less than 
ninety-fi ve per cent of the total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at that 
meeting,

 
 Provided also that the accidental omission to give notice to or the non-receipt of notice by any 

person entitled thereto shall not invalidate the proceedings at any General Meeting. At least 
fourteen days’ notice of any General Meeting shall be given by advertisement in the daily press and 
in writing to any Stock Exchange upon which the Company may be listed.

53. (A)  Every notice calling a General Meeting shall specify the place and the day and hour of the 
meeting, and there shall appear with reasonable prominence in every notice a statement that 
a member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead 
of him and that a proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

 (B) In the case of an Annual General Meeting, the notice shall also specify the meeting as such.

 (C) In the case of any General Meeting at which business other than routine business is to be 
transacted, the notice shall specify the general nature of such business; and if any resolution 
is to be proposed as a Special Resolution, the notice shall contain a statement to that effect.

54. Routine business shall mean and include only business transacted at an Annual General Meeting 
of the following classes, that is to say:- 

 (a) declaring dividends;

 (b) receiving and adopting the fi nancial statements, the Directors’ statement, the Auditor’s report 
and other documents required to be attached or annexed to the fi nancial statements;

 (c) appointing or re-appointing Directors to fi ll vacancies arising at the meeting on retirement 
whether by rotation or otherwise;

 (d) re-appointing the retiring Auditors (unless they were last appointed otherwise than by the 
Company in General Meeting);

 (e) fixing the remuneration of the Auditors or determining the manner in which such 
remuneration is to be fi xed; and

 (f) fi xing the remuneration of the Directors proposed to be passed under Regulation 80. 

55. Any notice of a General Meeting to consider special business shall be accompanied by a statement 
regarding the effect of any proposed resolution on the Company in respect of such special 
business.

PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

56. The Chairman of the Board of Directors, failing whom the Deputy Chairman, shall preside as 
chairman at a General Meeting. If there be no such Chairman or Deputy Chairman, or if at any 
meeting neither be present within fi ve minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting and 
willing to act, the Directors present shall choose one of their number (or, if no Director be present 
or if all the Directors present decline to take the chair, the members present shall choose one of 
their number) to be chairman of the meeting.

57. No business other than the appointment of a chairman shall be transacted at any General Meeting 
unless a quorum is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business. Save as herein 
otherwise provided, the quorum at any General Meeting shall be two or more members present in 
person or by proxy.
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58. If within thirty minutes from the time appointed for a General Meeting (or such longer interval 
as the chairman of the meeting may think fi t to allow) a quorum is not present, the meeting, if 
convened on the requisition of members, shall be dissolved. In any other case, it shall stand 
adjourned to the same day in the next week (or if that day is a public holiday, then to the next 
business day following that public holiday) at the same time and place or such other day, time or 
place as the Directors may by not less than ten days’ notice appoint. At the adjourned meeting, any 
one or more members present in person or by proxy shall be a quorum.

59. The chairman of any General Meeting at which a quorum is present may with the consent of the 
meeting (and shall if so directed by the meeting) adjourn the meeting from time to time (or sine 
die) and from place to place, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting except 
business which might lawfully have been transacted at the meeting from which the adjournment 
took place. Where a General Meeting is adjourned sine die, the time and place for the adjourned 
meeting shall be fi xed by the Directors. When a meeting is adjourned for thirty days or more or sine 
die, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given in like manner as in the case of the original 
meeting.

60. Save as hereinbefore expressly provided, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an 
adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.

61. If an amendment shall be proposed to any resolution under consideration but shall in good faith be 
ruled out of order by the chairman of the meeting, the proceedings on the substantive resolution 
shall not be invalidated by any error in such ruling. In the case of a resolution duly proposed as 
a Special Resolution, no amendment thereto (other than a mere clerical amendment to correct a 
patent error) may in any event be considered or voted upon.

 
62. (A) If required by the listing rules of any stock exchange upon which the shares of the Company 

may be listed, all resolutions at General Meetings shall be voted by poll (unless such 
requirement is waived by such stock exchange).

 (B) Subject to Regulation 62(A), at any General Meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the 
meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of 
the result of the show of hands) demanded by:- 

  (a) the chairman of the meeting; or

  (b) not less than two members present having the right to vote at the meeting in person or 
by proxy and entitled to vote; or

  (c) a member present having the right to vote at the meeting in person or by proxy and 
representing not less than 5 per cent of the total voting rights of all the members 
having the right to vote at the meeting; or

  (d) by any member or members present having the right to vote at the meeting in person 
or by proxy and holding not less than 5 per cent. of the total number of paid-up shares 
of the Company (excluding treasury shares),

  Provided always that no poll shall be demanded on the choice of a chairman or on a 
question of adjournment.

63. A demand for a poll may be withdrawn only with the approval of the meeting. Unless a poll 
is required, a declaration by the chairman of the meeting that a resolution has been carried, or 
carried unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect in the minute 
book, shall be conclusive evidence of that fact without proof of the number or proportion of the 
votes recorded for or against such resolution. If a poll is required, it shall be taken in such manner 
(including the use of ballot or voting papers or tickets) as the chairman of the meeting may direct, 
and the result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was 
demanded. The chairman of the meeting may (and if so directed by the meeting shall) appoint 
scrutineers and may adjourn the meeting to some place and time fi xed by him for the purpose of 
declaring the result of the poll.
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64. In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman of the 
meeting at which the show of hands takes place or at which the poll is demanded shall be entitled 
to a casting vote.

 
65. A poll on the election of a Chairman or on a question of adjournment shall be taken forthwith. 

A poll demanded on any question shall be taken either immediately or at such subsequent time 
(not being more than thirty days from the date of the meeting) and place as the chairman may 
direct. No notice need be given of a poll not taken immediately. The demand for a poll shall not 
prevent the continuance of the meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question 
on which the poll has been demanded.

VOTES OF MEMBERS

66. Subject and without prejudice to any special privileges or restrictions as to voting for the time 
being attached to any special class of shares for the time being forming part of the capital of the 
Company and to Regulation 5, each member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy. On a 
show of hands, every member who is present in person or by proxy shall:- 

 (a) have one vote for every share which he holds or represents; and

 (b) on a show of hands, have one vote, provided that:- 

  (i) in the case of a member who is not a relevant intermediary and who is represented 
by two proxies, only one of those two proxies as determined by that member or, failing 
such determination, by the Chairman of the meeting (or by a person authorised by 
him) in his sole discretion shall be entitled to vote on a show of hands; and

  (ii) in the case of a member who is a relevant intermediary and who is represented by two 
or more proxies, each proxy shall be entitled to vote on a show of hands.

 For the purpose of determining the number of votes which a member, being a Depositor, or his 
proxy may cast at any General Meeting on a poll, the reference to shares held or represented shall, 
in relation to shares of that Depositor, be the number of shares entered against his name in the 
Depository Register as at seventy-two hours before the time of the relevant General Meeting as 
certifi ed by the Depository to the Company.

67. In the case of joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person 
or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders and for this 
purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the Register of 
Members or (as the case may be) the Depository Register in respect of the share.

68. Where in Singapore or elsewhere, a receiver or other person (by whatever name called) has 
been appointed by any court claiming jurisdiction in that behalf to exercise powers with respect 
to the property or affairs of any member on the ground (however formulated) of mental disorder, 
the Directors may in their absolute discretion, upon or subject to production of such evidence of 
the appointment as the Directors may require, permit such receiver or other person on behalf of 
such member to vote in person or by proxy at any General Meeting or to exercise any other right 
conferred by membership in relation to meetings of the Company.

69. No member shall, unless the Directors otherwise determine, be entitled in respect of shares held 
by him to vote at a General Meeting either personally or by proxy or to exercise any other right 
conferred by membership in relation to meetings of the Company if any call or other sum presently 
payable by him to the Company in respect of such shares remains unpaid.

70. No objection shall be raised as to the admissibility of any vote except at the meeting or adjourned 
meeting at which the vote objected to is, or may, be given or tendered and every vote not 
disallowed at such meeting shall be valid for all purposes. Any such objection shall be referred to 
the chairman of the meeting whose decision shall be fi nal and conclusive.
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71. On a poll, votes may be given personally or by proxy and a person entitled to more than one vote 
need not use all his votes or cast all the votes he uses in the same way.

72. (A) Save as otherwise provided in the Act:- 

  (i) a member who is not a relevant intermediary may appoint not more than two proxies 
to attend and vote at the same General Meeting. Where such member’s form of proxy 
appoints more than one proxy, the proportion of the shareholding concerned to be 
represented by each proxy shall be specifi ed in the form of proxy; and

  (ii) a member who is a relevant intermediary may appoint more than two proxies to 
attend, speak and vote at the same General Meeting, but each proxy must be 
appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by such 
member. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than two proxies, the 
number and class of shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall 
be specifi ed in the form of proxy.

 (B)  In any case where a member is a Depositor, the Company shall be entitled and bound:- 

  (i) to reject any instrument of proxy lodged if the Depositor is not shown to have any 
shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at seventy-two hours 
before the time of the relevant General Meeting as certifi ed by the Depository to the 
Company; and

  (ii) to accept as the maximum number of votes which in aggregate the proxy or proxies 
appointed by the Depositor is or are able to cast on a poll a number which is the 
number of shares entered against the name of that Depositor in the Depository 
Register as at seventy-two hours before the time of the relevant General Meeting as 
certifi ed by the Depository to the Company, whether that number is greater or smaller 
than the number specifi ed in any instrument of proxy executed by or on behalf of that 
Depositor.

 (C)  The Company shall be entitled and bound, in determining rights to vote and other matters in 
respect of a completed instrument of proxy submitted to it, to have regard to the instruments 
(if any) given by and the notes (if any) set out in the instrument of proxy.

 (D) A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

73. (A)  An instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing in any usual or common form or in any 
other form which the Directors may approve and:

  (a) in the case of an individual, shall be:- 

   (i) signed by the appointor or his attorney if the instrument of proxy is delivered 
personally or sent by post; or

   (ii) subject always to Regulation 139, authorised by that individual through such 
method and in such manner as may be approved by the Directors, if the 
instrument is submitted by electronic communication; and

  (b) in the case of a corporation, shall be:- 

   (i) either given under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an attorney or a 
duly authorised offi cer of the corporation if the instrument of proxy is delivered 
personally or sent by post; or
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   (ii) subject always to Regulation 139, authorised by that corporation through 
such method and in such manner as may be approved by the Directors, if the 
instrument is submitted by electronic communication.

  The Directors may, for the purposes of Regulations 73(A)(a)(ii) and 73(A)(b)(ii), designate 
procedures for authenticating any such instrument, and any such instrument not so 
authenticated by use of such procedures shall be deemed not to have been received by the 
Company.

 (B)  The signature on, or authorization of, such instrument need not be witnessed. Where an 
instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor (which shall, for purposes 
of this paragraph include a Depositor) by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a 
duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged 
with the instrument of proxy pursuant to Regulation 74, failing which the instrument may be 
treated as invalid.

74. An instrument appointing a proxy or the power of attorney or other authority, if any:- 

 (A) if sent personally or by post, must be left at such place or one of such places (if any) as may 
be specifi ed for that purpose in or by way of note to or in any document accompanying the 
notice convening the meeting (or, if no place is so specifi ed, at the Offi ce); or

 (B) subject always to Regulation 139, if submitted by electronic communication, must be 
received through such means as may be specifi ed for that purpose or by way of note to or in 
any document accompanying the notice convening the General Meeting,

 and in either case not less than seventy-two hours before the time appointed for the holding of 
the meeting or adjourned meeting or (in the case of a poll taken otherwise than at or on the same 
day as the meeting or adjourned meeting) for the taking of the poll at which it is to be used, and 
in default shall not be treated as valid. The instrument shall, unless the contrary is stated thereon, 
be valid as well for any adjournment of the meeting as for the meeting to which it relates; Provided 
that an instrument of proxy relating to more than one meeting (including any adjournment thereof) 
having once been so delivered for the purposes of any meeting shall not be required again to be 
delivered for the purposes of any subsequent meeting to which it relates.

75. An instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to include the right to demand or join in 
demanding a poll, to move any resolution or amendment thereto and to speak at the meeting.

76. A vote cast by proxy shall not be invalidated by the previous death or insanity of the principal or by 
the revocation of the appointment of the proxy or of the authority under which the appointment was 
made Provided that no intimation in writing of such death, insanity or revocation shall have been 
received by the Company at the Offi ce at least one hour before the commencement of the meeting 
or adjourned meeting or (in the case of a poll taken otherwise than at or on the same day as the 
meeting or adjourned meeting) the time appointed for the taking of the poll at which the vote is 
cast.

CORPORATIONS ACTING BY REPRESENTATIVES

77. Any corporation which is a member of the Company may by resolution of its directors or other 
governing body authorise such person as it thinks fi t to act as its representative at any meeting 
of the Company or of any class of members of the Company. The person so authorised shall 
be entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of such corporation as the corporation could 
exercise if it were an individual member of the Company and such corporation shall for the 
purposes of this Constitution (but subject to the Act) be deemed to be present in person at any 
such meeting if a person so authorised is present thereat.
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3. The rights of Shareholders in respect of dividends

RESERVES

121. The Directors may from time to time set aside out of the profi ts of the Company and carry to 
reserve such sums as they think proper which, at the discretion of the Directors, shall be applicable 
for any purpose to which the profi ts of the Company may properly be applied and pending such 
application may either be employed in the business of the Company or be invested. The Directors 
may divide the reserve into such special funds as they think fi t and may consolidate into one fund 
any special funds or any parts of any special funds into which the reserve may have been divided. 
The Directors may also, without placing the same to reserve, carry forward any profi ts. In carrying 
sums to reserve and in applying the same, the Directors shall comply with the provisions (if any) of 
the Statutes.

DIVIDENDS

122. The Company may by Ordinary Resolution declare dividends but no such dividend shall exceed the 
amount recommended by the Directors. No dividend may be paid, unless otherwise provided in the 
Statutes to the Company in respect of treasury shares.

123. If and so far as in the opinion of the Directors the profi ts of the Company justify such payments, 
the Directors may declare and pay the fi xed dividends on any class of shares carrying a fi xed 
dividend expressed to be payable on fi xed dates on the half-yearly or other dates prescribed for 
the payment thereof and may also from time to time declare and pay interim dividends on shares of 
any class of such amounts and on such dates and in respect of such periods as they think fi t.

124. Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any shares or class of shares and except as 
otherwise permitted under the Act:

 (a) all dividends in respect of shares must be paid in proportion to the number of shares held 
by a member but where shares are partly paid all dividends must be apportioned and paid 
proportionately to the amounts paid or credited as paid on the partly paid shares; and

 (b) all dividends must be apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts so paid or 
credited as paid during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend 
is paid.

 For the purposes of this Regulation, an amount paid or credited as paid on a share in advance of a 
call is to be ignored.

125. No dividend shall be paid otherwise than out of profi ts available for distribution under the provisions 
of the Statutes.

126. No dividend or other moneys payable on or in respect of a share shall bear interest as against the 
Company.

127. (A) The Directors may retain any dividend or other moneys payable on or in respect of a share 
on which the Company has a lien and may apply the same in or towards satisfaction of the 
debts, liabilities or engagements in respect of which the lien exists.

 (B) The Directors may retain the dividends payable upon shares in respect of which any person 
is under the provisions as to the transmission of shares hereinbefore contained entitled to 
become a member, or which any person is under those provisions entitled to transfer, until 
such person shall become a member in respect of such shares or shall transfer the same.
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128. The waiver in whole or in part of any dividend on any share by any document (whether or not 
under seal) shall be effective only if such document is signed by the shareholder (or the person 
entitled to the share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of the holder) and delivered to the 
Company and if or to the extent that the same is accepted as such or acted upon by the Company.

129. The Company may upon the recommendation of the Directors by Ordinary Resolution direct 
payment of a dividend in whole or in part by the distribution of specifi c assets (and in particular 
of paid-up shares or debentures of any other company) and the Directors shall give effect to such 
resolution. Where any diffi culty arises in regard to such distribution, the Directors may settle the 
same as they think expedient and in particular may issue fractional certifi cates, may fi x the value 
for distribution of such specifi c assets or any part thereof, may determine that cash payments shall 
be made to any members upon the footing of the value so fi xed in order to adjust the rights of all 
parties and may vest any such specifi c assets in trustees as may seem expedient to the Directors.

130. Any dividend or other moneys payable in cash on or in respect of a share may be paid by cheque 
or warrant sent through the post to the registered address appearing in the Register of Members 
or (as the case may be) the Depository Register of a member or person entitled thereto (or, if two 
or more persons are registered in the Register of Members or (as the case may be) entered in 
the Depository Register as joint holders of the share or are entitled thereto in consequence of the 
death or bankruptcy of the holder, to any one of such persons) or to such person at such address 
as such member or person or persons may by writing direct. Every such cheque or warrant shall be 
made payable to the order of the person to whom it is sent or to such person as the holder or joint 
holders or person or persons entitled to the share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of 
the holder may direct and payment of the cheque or warrant by the banker upon whom it is drawn 
shall be a good discharge to the Company. Every such cheque or warrant shall be sent at the risk 
of the person entitled to the money represented thereby. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions 
of this Regulation and the provisions of Regulation 132, the payment by the Company to the 
Depository of any dividend payable to a Depositor shall, to the extent of the payment made to the 
Depository, discharge the Company from any liability to the Depositor in respect of that payment.

131. If two or more persons are registered in the Register of Members or (as the case may be) the 
Depository Register as joint holders of any share, or are entitled jointly to a share in consequence 
of the death or bankruptcy of the holder, any one of them may give effectual receipts for any 
dividend or other moneys payable or property distributable on or in respect of the share.

132. Any resolution declaring a dividend on shares of any class, whether a resolution of the Company 
in a General Meeting or a resolution of the Directors, may specify that the same shall be payable 
to the persons registered as the holders of such shares in the Register of Members or (as the case 
may be) the Depository Register at the close of business on a particular date and thereupon the 
dividend shall be payable to them in accordance with their respective holdings so registered, but 
without prejudice to the rights inter se in respect of such dividend of transferors and transferees of 
any such shares.

BONUS ISSUES AND CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS AND RESERVES

133. (A) The Directors may, with the sanction of an Ordinary Resolution of the Company (including 
any Ordinary Resolution passed pursuant to Regulation 8(B)):

  (i) issue bonus shares for which no consideration is payable to the Company to the 
persons registered as holders of shares in the Register of Members or (as the case 
may be) in the Depository Register at the close of business on:

   (a) the date of the Ordinary Resolution (or such other date as may be specifi ed 
therein or determined as therein provided); or

   (b) (in the case of an Ordinary Resolution passed pursuant to Regulation 8(B)) 
such other date as may be determined by the Directors, in proportion to their 
then holdings of shares; and/or
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  (ii) capitalise any sum standing to the credit of any of the Company’s reserve accounts 
or other undistributable reserve or any sum standing to the credit of profi t and loss 
account by appropriating such sum to the persons registered as holders of shares in 
the Register of Members or (as the case may be) in the Depository Register at the 
close of business on:

   (a) the date of the Ordinary Resolution (or such other date as may be specifi ed 
therein or determined as therein provided); or

   (b) (in the case of an Ordinary Resolution passed pursuant to Regulation 8(B)) 
such other date as may be determined by the Directors, in proportion to their 
then holdings of shares and applying such sum on their behalf in paying up in 
full new shares (or, subject to any special rights previously conferred on any 
shares or class of shares for the time being issued, new shares of any other 
class not being redeemable shares) for allotment and distribution credited as 
fully paid up to and amongst them as bonus shares in the proportion aforesaid.

 (B) The Directors may do all acts and things considered necessary or expedient to give effect 
to any such bonus issue and/or capitalization under Regulation 133(A), with full power to 
the Directors to make such provisions as they think fi t for any fractional entitlements which 
would arise on the basis aforesaid (including provisions whereby fractional entitlements 
are disregarded or the benefi t thereof accrues to the Company rather than to the members 
concerned). The Directors may authorise any person to enter on behalf of all the members 
interested into an agreement with the Company providing for any such bonus issue and/or 
capitalisation and matters incidental thereto and any agreement made under such authority 
shall be effective and binding on all concerned.

 (C) In addition and without prejudice to the powers provided for by Regulation 133(A) above, 
the Directors shall have power to issue shares for which no consideration is payable to the 
Company and/or to capitalize any undivided profi ts or other moneys of the Company not 
required for the payment or provision of any dividend on any shares entitled to cumulative or 
non-cumulative preferential dividends (including profi ts or other moneys carried and standing 
to any reserve or reserves) and to apply such profi ts or other moneys in paying up in full 
new shares, in each case on terms that such shares shall, upon issue:- 

  (i) be held by or for the benefi t of participants of any share incentive or option scheme 
or plan implemented by the Company and approved by the shareholders in General 
Meeting in such manner and on such terms as the Directors shall think fi t; or

  (ii) be held by or for the benefi t of non-executive Directors as part of their remuneration 
under Regulation 80 and/or Regulation 81 approved by shareholders in General 
Meeting in such manner and on such terms as the Directors shall think fi t.

  The Directors may do all such acts and things considered necessary or expedient to give 
effect to any of the foregoing.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

of the Company for the year ended on that date; and 

and when they fall due.

Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir 
James Tham Tuck Choong 
Tung May Fong 
Winston Kwek Choon Lin
Henry Tan Song Kok
Leow Ban Tat
Keith Tan Keng Soon

debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT (CONT’D)

Penguin International Limited

Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir – – –
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT (CONT’D)

James Tham Tuck Choong

Tung May Fong



D-4

APPENDIX D: AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
THE GROUP FOR FY2022 

FORTIFYING VALUE  ANNUAL REPORT 2022 57

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Penguin International Limited

Company for the year ended on that date.

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

reviewed the impairment loss at Group level and noted that no further impairment or reversal of impairment was made for the 

Management assessed the recoverable amount of the motor launches based on the fair value less costs to sell. The fair value 
less costs to sell is determined either by the indicative values based on advice from the independent valuer or by reference to 
the recent selling prices of motor launches contracted for sale.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S STATEMENT (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Penguin International Limited

• We performed an evaluation of the Group’s policies and procedures to identify indicators for potential impairment of 
motor launches.

• Ensured that management’s impairment assessment covered those motor launches with indicators of impairment.

• For motor launches where the fair value less costs to sell was determined based on the estimated disposal value provided 

of the assumptions used by the independent valuer.

• For motor launches where the fair value less costs to sell was determined with reference to the recent selling prices of 

for sale.

input method to measure the progress of satisfaction of the performance obligation.

of the contract work completed.

• We have reviewed the shipbuilding contracts recognised over time entered into by the Group in assessing the performance 

satisfying the performance obligation of the contract and traced these to the accounting records.

• We evaluated the appropriateness of management’s estimation process for the percentage completed at the reporting 

the assessment;

the relevant activities;
c) We tested the inputs used by management in determining the level of completion of the relevant activities of the 

shipbuilding contracts recognised over time;

over time.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S STATEMENT (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Penguin International Limited

of selected debtors and considered events or indicators which resulted in increase in credit risk of those debtors;

• We discussed with management and scrutinised the appropriateness of those key assumptions applied in management’s 

sensitivity testing of the underlying key assumptions.

Assets. 

• We have reviewed the audit working papers and discussed with the component auditor on its evaluation and conclusion 
reached in relation to this matter; and
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S STATEMENT (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Penguin International Limited

conclusion thereon.

a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are 

to maintain accountability of assets.

statements.

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

of internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S STATEMENT (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Penguin International Limited

supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lee Eng Kian.

Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants

Singapore 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

4
Cost of sales

Marketing and distribution costs

(240)

Finance costs 8
Finance income 8

10
11

(1) (1)

- Basic 12
12
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Foreign currency translation

(1) (1)
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BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 December 2022

–
Investment in subsidiaries 14 – –
Loan to a subsidiary 20 – –

Intangible asset – –
Trade receivables 18 – –

– –

Inventories – –
Trade receivables 18

Contract assets –
Prepayments 824 180

Loans to subsidiaries 20 – –
21 – –

Cash and bank balances 21

– – –

Trade payables 22 82

Provisions 24 –
Contract liabilities 442

– –

Lease liabilities –
Term loans

20 – –
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BALANCE SHEETS (CONT’D)
As at 31 December 2022

Provisions 24 – –
Lease liabilities – –
Term loans

Share capital

– –
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

– – (1)

subsidiaries – – –
Foreign currency translation – – –

– – –

 
– – –

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – (1)

Contributions by and distributions
  to owners

–      – –

Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners –      –         –
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

(4)

– – (1)

subsidiaries – – –
Foreign currency translation – – –

– – –

 
– – –

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – (1)
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

– –

– –

Total comprehensive income for the year –
Contributions by and distributions to owners 

– –

Total contributions by and distributions to owners – –
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

– –

– –

Total comprehensive income for the year –
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Interest income
240

Impairment on inventories –
24

Currency alignment

Inventories
Trade receivables

Contract assets
Trade payables

Provisions
Contract liabilities

–

Interest paid
Interest received
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Proceeds from term loans

–
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities

21
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 Penguin International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore and 

2.1 

below.

2.2 

 The following standards and interpretations are effective for the annual period are effective for the annual period beginning 

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

1 Jan 2024

Single Transaction
1 Jan 2024
1 Jan 2024

the year of initial application.

2.4 

(a) 

accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

date when control is lost;



D-21

APPENDIX D: AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
THE GROUP FOR FY2022

PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED74

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2.4 

(a) 

(b) 

services are received.

that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event 

goodwill. 

Company.

 Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

(a) 

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its 

those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

(b) 

over the investee.

losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2.8 

impairment losses.

 The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually and whenever there 
is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the 
recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where 

 Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that cash-generating unit is disposed 

determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based 
on the relative fair values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Leasehold buildings
Motor launches

Motor vehicles
4 years

for use.

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

year the asset is derecognised.

available for use. 

 The revaluation surplus included in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of an asset is transferred directly to retained 
earnings on retirement or disposal of the asset.

2.10 

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication 

recoverable amount.

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs of disposal and 

independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating 

forecast calculations which are prepared separately for each of the Group’s cash-generating units to which the individual 
assets are allocated.

asset.

Group estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2.11 

(a) 

 Initial recognition and measurement

Subsequent measurement

(i) 

at fair value through other comprehensive income.

(ii) Derivatives

(iii) Amortised cost 

solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured 

(iv) Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)

 Investments in equity instruments

 Derecognition

of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income is recognised in retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2.11 

(b) 

 Initial recognition and measurement

 Subsequent measurement

(i) 

hedging instruments in hedge relationships.

or loss.

(ii) Financial liabilities at amortised cost

 Derecognition

(c) 



D-27

APPENDIX D: AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
THE GROUP FOR FY2022

PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED80

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2.12 

value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 

irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit 

2.14 

value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 

possibility of losses is ascertained.

 Contract balances comprise contract assets and contract liabilities presented separately in the balance sheets.

 Contract assets 

 Contract assets are recognised when shipbuilding progress has been made based on the percentage of completion in 

when progress billings have been made.

 Contract liabilities 

 Contract liabilities are recognised when progress on shipbuilding has been made based on the percentage of completion 

on shipbuilding have been made.

 A net position of contract asset or contract liability is determined for each contract. 

construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the 

are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are 

with the borrowing of funds.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2.18 

amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

 Liquidated damages

provisions is dependent on the timing of claims.

 Foreseeable losses

loss is ascertained.

 Onerous contracts

cost of meeting the obligations under the contract.

 Warranty provisions

 Provision for warranty-related costs are recognised when the product is sold in accordance to the terms stipulated in 
shipbuilding contracts and in respect of anticipated claims from customers. Initial recognition is based on historical 

 Restoration costs

discount rate applied are added to or deducted from the cost of leasehold buildings. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

(a) 

(b) 

method.

- Service cost

or curtailment occurs.

(c) 

 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to employees. The estimated 
liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2.20 

 

leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities representing the obligations to make lease payments 
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying leased assets.

 Right-of-use assets

 The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is 

term and the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

 Lease liabilities

commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement 

to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2.20 

 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

and dormitories (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not 
contain a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised as 

2.21 

through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition. 

2.22 

performance obligation.

recognised over time (i.e. under the percentage of completion method).

- It produces a good with no alternative use and the Company has an irrevocable right to payment (including a 

of the customer.
- It creates a good which is controlled by the customer as the good is created or enhanced.

(a) 

recognised over time and at point in time.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

2.22 

(a) 

 The Group’s shipbuilding revenue comprises (i) build-to-order and (ii) build-for-stock vessels. 

(b) 

(c) 

 Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

 

(a) 

(b) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

(b) 

and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

the temporary differences can be utilised.

to be recovered.

enacted at the end of each reporting period.

items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

(c) 

or payables on the balance sheet.

2.24 

are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the respective 
segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the Company who regularly 
reviews the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment performance. 

reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group; or 

obligation; or 

the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. 

to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Grants from the government are recognised as a receivable at their fair value when there is reasonable assurance that 
the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions.

Government grant receivable are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related 

in the future periods.

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 

assumptions when they occur.

(a) 

which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Management determines recoverable 
amount based on fair value less costs to sell which is estimated by an independent valuer based on cost of 
construction and replacement of a similar asset.

(b) 

obligation.

of the vessel.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

(c) 

options.

(a) 

  
(b) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Chartering 

over time respectively.

 The aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining non-cancellable performance obligation is 

duration of one year or less.

Consideration Sum*                        –
Scrap sales
Grant received
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

  - Auditor of the Company (108)
(21) (18)

Legal fees
Professional fees

Water and electricity
Transportation

–

 

Group
2022 2021

Bank charges

Interest income from short term deposits and bank balances 42
Interest income from customers under deferred payment arrangement
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Central Provident Fund contributions

Cost of sales

Inventories
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 Major components of income tax expense

- Movement in temporary differences
422

 where the Group operates

–
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

 basic and diluted earnings per share 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the computation of basic and 
 diluted earnings per share 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2021
Additions 181 –
Transfer (24) – 40 –
Transfer to assets held 

for sale – – – – – –
– – – –

Written off – (102) – – – – (140)

difference 48 1

and 1 January 2022
Additions –
Transfer – – – – – – 
Transfer to inventory – – (121) – – – – (121)
Transfer from assets 

held for sale – – – – – –
Transfer out* – – – – – –

– (1) – –

Written off  – – (242) – – –

difference (8) (122)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2021 –
Charge for the year –
Transfer – – – (8) – – 8 –
Transfer to assets held 

for sale – – – – – –
– (8) – – –

Written off – – – – – (101)

difference 4 1 –

and 1 January 2022 – 824
Charge for the year –
Transfer from assets 

held for sale – – – – – –
Transfer out* – – – – – –

– – (1) – – –
Written off  – – (108) – – –

difference (200) –

–

410

12

*  The transfer out relates to the early move-out and relocation from 18 Tuas Basin Link.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2021
Additions – –

– (1) –
Written off – – – –

 1 January 2022
Additions – – – –
Transfer out* – – – –
Written off – – – –

–

At 1 January 2021 128
Charge for the year –

– (1) –
Written off – – – –

 1 January 2022
Charge for the year –
Transfer out* – – – –
Written off – – – –

–

– 21 4

– – 14 1

* The transfer out relates to the early move-out and relocation from 18 Tuas Basin Link.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 Assets pledged as security

pledged to secure banking facilities – –

 Impairment assessment of assets

which were underutilised. The recoverable amounts of the motor launches were based on the valuations performed by an 
independent valuer.

–        – –

 Assets under construction

new yard development in Tuas) in the course of construction. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Impairment losses

Total investment in subsidiaries

At beginning of year
(20)

At end of year
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

% %

Penguin Shipyard
International
Pte Ltd(1)

ferries and launches and provision 
of related repairs and maintenance 
services

Singapore 100 100

Penguin Shipyard
Asia Pte Ltd(1) ferries and launches 

Singapore 100 100

Services Pte Ltd(1) crewboats and fast supply intervention 
vessels

Singapore 100 100

(4) Singapore 100 100 100 100

Worldwide Pte Ltd(1)

Investment holding Singapore 100 100 100 100

Penguin Marine Services 
Pte Ltd(1) services

Singapore 100 100

Pelican Ship 
Management Servies 
Pte Ltd(1)

Provision of ship management and 
maintenance services

Singapore 100 100

Pte Ltd(4)

Singapore 100 100

Penguin Marine

Pte Ltd(1)

Management and operation of motor 
launches 

Singapore 100 100

(Pte.) Ltd(1)

Provision of shipyard space Singapore 100 100
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

% %

PKS Shipyard Pte Ltd(1) Investment holding Singapore 100 100

PT Kim Seah Shipyard
Indonesia(2) launches and provision of related repairs and 

maintenance services

Indonesia 100 100

(1) Singapore 100 100

Malaysia Corp
Malaysia

(2) Malaysia 100 100

(1) Management and operation of fast supply intervention Singapore 100 100

(4) Singapore 100 100

Penguin Transporter Pte 
Ltd(1)

Management and operation of Landing Craft Singapore 100 100

Sdn Bhd (2)

Malaysia

(1) 

(2) 

(4)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Impairment losses

– – – –

Issue of Management Award Shares as per the investment 
agreement with respect to Marco Polo Marine Limited

9,957 6,557 9,957 6,557

Total other investments

As at 1 January
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

purchase consideration paid on the date of purchase. The goodwill has been allocated to PT Kim Seah Shipyard Indonesia 
as a cash generating unit (“CGU”) for impairment testing.

Parts and spares
Work-in-progress

–

Trade receivables
Allowance for impairment loss – –

Trade receivables – –

Total trade receivables

to sale of stock vessels under deferred payment arrangement. They are recognised at original invoice amounts which 
represent their fair values on initial recognition.

payment arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 Receivables that are past due but not impaired 

–

– –
– –

 Receivables that are impaired 

 The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and the movement of the allowance 

Trade receivables

–  –

At 1 January
240

Write off provision in prior year –

 Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to debtors that 

have defaulted on payments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Financial assets

44

Insurance claims – –

Advance payment to suppliers – –
– 4 – –

– –

– –

Total current other receivables and deposits

Non-current:
Financial assets

– –

Total other receivables and deposits

monthly instalments. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Loan to a subsidiary (non-current)

Loans to subsidiaries (current)

 The loan to a subsidiary (non-current) has been designated by the Company as part of the net investment in the subsidiary. 

At 1 January
–



D-55

APPENDIX D: AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
THE GROUP FOR FY2022

PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED108

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Cash and bank balances
– –

 

0.01% to 0.24%) per annum.

granted to the Group.

–
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Financial liabilities

184

– –
Advance payments and deposits received (non-refundable) – –

Total other payables and accruals

 Advance payments and deposits received (non-refundable) refer mainly to downpayments for shipbuilding activities.

Current:
Provision for warranty claims – –
Provision for restoration cost – –

–

Non-current:
Provision for restoration cost – – –

– –

– –

 Provision for warranty claims

At 1 January
Additions during the year

Utilisation during the year
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 Provision for warranty claims (cont’d)

 The provision for warranty claims is in relation to shipbuilding contracts. The amount for warranty claim is estimated by 

 Provision for restoration cost

restoration.

an independent actuary.

Current service cost
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Mortality rate

Method unit credit unit credit

At 1 January
Provision made during the year
Payment made during the year –
Translation (14) 2

Contract assets –

Contract liabilities (442)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

liability balance at the beginning of the year 442 428

–

Term loan I (unsecured)
Term loan II 
Term loan III 

–

Term loan I (unsecured)
Term loan II 
Term loan III – –

–

Total term loans
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 Term loan I

 Term loan II

 Term loan III

  

 

 

Term loans

Term loans

(b) an assignment of charter earnings in respect of mortgaged motor launches;

(c) an assignment of insurance policies in respect of mortgaged motor launches;  

(e) an assignment of rental proceeds of mortgaged property.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 Group as a lessee

(a) 

At 1 January
Additions –

– –

Written off – – –
(1) – –

–

(b)  

  

Lease liabilities
- current – –
- non-current – – –

– –

Lease liabilities
- current (28)
- non-current – – –

(28)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 

(c) 

188 1

 - included in cost of sales 100 140 – –

(d) 

(a) 

– –

(b) 

Commitments in respect of shipbuilding costs – –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

(c) 

to enable them to operate as going concerns and to meet their obligations for at least 12 months from the date 

– – 2 – – –

 Tax consequences of proposed dividends

 Unrecognised temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries 

certain of the Group’s subsidiaries as the Group has determined that undistributed earnings of its subsidiaries will not be 
distributed in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

‘000 ‘000

Issued and fully paid

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary 
shares which have no par value carry one vote per share without restrictions.

Foreign currency translation reserve – –
Fair value reserve

(a) 

statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation 

Group’s net investment in foreign operations.

At 1 January
(1)

of foreign operations

 (1)   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 

(b) 

At 1 January

(a) 

Charter hire fee income – – 28
Commission income – –
Management fee income – –
Interest income – –

1 1
– –

Wharfage charges – –
Maintenance service 1 – – –
Sale of inventory – – –

Ship building costs – –
– –
– – (22)
– – (88)

Ship repair cost – –
– – (420)

(20)
– –

– (414) – –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 

(b)  

Central Provident Fund contributions

 The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to 
the performance of individuals and market trends.

(a)   The chartering segment provides chartering of motor launches.

(b)    The shipbuilding and ship repairs and maintenance segment act as a builder of high speed aluminium commercial 
vessels and contractor for ship repairs and maintenance services.

segments.

 Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

– –
Inter-segment sales A – –

Total revenue

Finance income 442 B
– – – –

B
Financial costs B
Impairment on inventories – – – – –   –

– – 188
C

Additions to 
 non-current assets – –
Goodwill – – – – – –
Segment assets E

Segment liabilities – – F
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

A. Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

arising from inter-segment sale of motor launches are also eliminated on consolidation.

From inter-segment transactions
Unallocated income

 The unallocated income pertain mainly to the early move-out and relocation from 18 Tuas Basin Link and reversal 

segment and inter-segment sales of motor launches.

Inter-segment assets
Unallocated assets –

 The unallocated assets pertain mainly to leasehold building.

Inter-segment liabilities

Provision for restoration cost –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 Geographical information

Singapore

East Asia – –
Africa
Europe –

– – – –
South Asia – – – –
Middle East – – –

– –

current assets comprise mainly of vessels which cannot be meaningfully allocated as the vessels can be deployed on 
different routes.

 Information about major customers

segments.

–
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 

(a) 

– – –
Trade receivables – – –

– – –
– – –

– – –
Cash and bank balances – – –

–

Trade payables – – –
– – –

Term loans – – –
Lease liabilities – – –

– – –

– –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

(a) 

– – –
Trade receivables – – –

deposits – – –
– – –

– – –
Cash and bank balances – – –

–

Trade payables – – –
– – –

Term loans – – –
Lease liabilities – – –

– – –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 

(a) 

– – –
Trade receivables – – –

deposits – – –
– – –

Loans to subsidiaries – – –
Cash and bank balances – – –

–

Trade payables – – –
– – –
– – –

Term loans – – –
– – –

– –

– – –
Trade receivables – – –

deposits – – –
– – –

Loans to subsidiaries – – –
Cash and bank balances – – –

–

Trade payables – – – 82 82
– – –
– – –

Lease liabilities – – –
Term loans – – –

– – –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 

(b) 

appropriate.

 Fair value hierarchy

 Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in the same level 

(c) 

be undertaken. The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

the risks.



D-74

APPENDIX D: AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
THE GROUP FOR FY2022 

FORTIFYING VALUE  ANNUAL REPORT 2022 127

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 

(a) 

 

% %

Singapore 18
Malaysia 20 14

108 –
Africa 21 18
East Asia – –
South Asia 10
Europe

18 –

100 100

Chartering 

100 100
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

(a) 

customers consisting of multi-industry conglomerates located in various countries.

customers consisting of government ministries and a multinational corporation.

 Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

 Trade and other receivables and contract assets that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors 

institutions with high credit ratings and no history of default.

 Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

(b) 

on contractual undiscounted payments is as follows.

Trade payables – –
– –

Term loans
Lease liabilities
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 

(b) 

Trade payables – –
– –

Term loans –
Lease liabilities

Trade payables – –
– –
– –

Term loans

Trade payables 82 – – 82
– –
– –

Term loans –
Lease liabilities – –

–
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 

(c) 

currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The foreign currencies in which these 

including Malaysia and Indonesia. The Group’s net investments in Malaysia and Indonesia that are not hedged as 

 The foreign currency risk is primarily managed by natural hedges of matching assets and liabilities denominated 

the need arises.

 Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

(d) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

 

(e) 

 Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

Increase in 100 basis points

 The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable 
market environment.
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PREMAS Valuers & Property Consultants Pte Ltd  
Reg No.: 199400520R 
Block 750A, Chai Chee Road  
ESR BizPark @ Chai Chee #05-01 
Singapore 469001 
Telephone: +65 6809 8653
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PREMAS Valuers & Property Consultants Pte Ltd  
Reg No.: 199400520R 
Block 750A, Chai Chee Road  
ESR BizPark @ Chai Chee #05-01 
Singapore 469001 

*Upon satisfactory completion on the A&A works and the construction of the new single-storey workshop with the 
Gross Floor Area of 1,440.00 sq m (approx. 15,500 sq ft) in accordance with the approved specifications and all 
relevant statutory requirements 
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